
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee

Members of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Tuesday, 28 February 2017 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interests 

4. To consider whether any items i Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Minutes 15.11.2016 (Pages 9 - 16)

6. 'Contextual Background to the Strategic Assessment' - Oral Presentation 
by Chief Inspector Tracey Quiller, Area Commander, Kent Police 

7. Gravesham Safety Strategic Assessment 2016 (Pages 17 - 76)

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 

Public Document Pack



Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be a disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

10.Gravesham Safety Strategic Assessment 2016 - Exempt Information (Pages 77 - 86)

Members

Cllr John Knight (Chair)
Cllr Sara Langdale (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Karen Hurdle
David Hurley
Samir Jassal
Gurdip Ram Bungar
Rob Halpin
Les Howes
Lyn Milner
Lauren Sullivan

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Thursday 13 October 2016 7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr John Knight (Chair)
Cllr Sara Langdale (Vice-Chair)

Cllrs: Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Rob Halpin
Les Howes 
Karen Hurdle 
David Hurley 
Lyn Milner 
Lauren Sullivan

Please note:    Cllr Steve Thompson was also in attendance.

Simon Hookway Service Manager (Economic Development) 
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety)
Sean Steer Operational Manager (CSU) 
Inspector Chris Carter Kent Police
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant

11. Apologies

Apologies of absence were received from Cllr Samir Jassal, Chief Inspector Tracey Quiller 
(Kent Police) and Melanie Norris.

12. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2016 were signed by the Chair.

13. Declarations of Interests

Cllr John Knight declared an “Other Interest “as he is a volunteer for the victim support 
service.

14. Responding to Hate Crime

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety) presented a report to the Committee that 
informed Members of work that is taking place locally to raise awareness and encourage the 
reporting of hate crime as part of a wider programme contributing to community cohesion. It 
also ensured that Members were fully apprised of Central Government’s new Action Plan for 
tackling hate crime as a national priority and how the Council is operating proactively to fulfil 
its community safety responsibilities by supporting GBC’s diverse population.

At the last Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee held in February 2016, Members 
considered the proposed priorities that had been identified by the Dartford and

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



2

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 13.10.2016

Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) for inclusion in its new three-year 
Community Safety Strategy. The Committee agreed that hate crime should be included in 
the Strategy; officers reported the Committee’s recommendation to the CSP and tackling 
hate crime was subsequently incorporated into the Strategy within its key objective, 
‘Protecting and Strengthening Communities’.

The Strategic Member (Community Safety) highlighted the following key points to the 
Committee:

 Page nine of the report sets out the National position on Hate Crime and the range of 
actions to be delivered between now and 2020

 One of the biggest issues is that Hate Crime is severely underreported with only 
about 25% of these crimes being reported in the whole country

 Page 11 showcases the different forms of Hate Crime which include much more than 
just racial discrimination:

- Disability
- Race or ethnicity
- Religion or belief
- Sexual orientation
- Transgender identity
- Mate crime is also on the increase where offenders specifically target vulnerable 

elderly people or people with disabilities to ‘befriend’ them in order to win their 
trust and confidence only to exploit them or their property

 The government has recently released new guidance on strengthening the 
sentencing of an individual carrying out a hate crime to make people understand the 
seriousness of what they are doing and what potential criminal charges they should 
expect to receive

 Since the previous Committee, proposed work and strategies have been taken to the 
Community Cohesion Group that consists of representatives from Kent Police, Kent 
Equality Cohesion Council and other community groups

 External funding was received from the Home Office which allowed GBC to give 
three days of Home Office accredited training to approximately 45 staff from different 
departments and other local agencies on Ideologies (Violent and Non-Violent 
Extremism) and Far Right Extremism that was incredibly well-received; due to this an 
extra two days of training later this month (October 2016) has been funded from 
money given by the Police & Crime Commissioner’s allocation 2016-17

 There are very clear polices in place for staff members if they felt they had been 
targeted by a hate crime but less for the Public; they are only advised in the first 
instance to contact the Police but many simply will not due to reasons including lack 
of confidence or nervousness with authority

 The intention is to improve the signposting of victims visiting the Civic Centre to other 
services. For instance, members of the public that come forward to report being a 
victim of a hate crime and have mental health issues could instead be directed 
towards the Gateway as they have specialist services to help them instead of having 
the only option to go to the Police

Page 4



3

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 13.10.2016

 Leaflets have been produced that aim to raise awareness of hate crime which have 
been distributed in the foyer and around the Civic Centre and advise people that from 
the 8th to 15th October 2016 it is actually National Hate Crime Awareness Week; due 
to the language barrier some of the advertising will be written in different languages 
to account for the various communities

 There are also third party reporting systems which are being promoted by GBC such 
as Crimestoppers whereby crimes can be reported anonymously by any individual

 The Kent Police Community Liaison Officer has already been into Gravesend Library 
this week to deliver a session on hate crime to improve awareness of it to the public 
and he will be holding another session at the Gateway tomorrow (Friday 14 October 
2016)

 Online training is being investigated as a possible alternative for those that cannot 
make it to the day sessions. The CSU is also currently sourcing a brief on-line 
training session (similar to Prevent On-line Training completed by staff and Members 
last year) that all staff and Members will be asked to complete to raise awareness of 
the different types of hate crime and how victims can be supported

 Work is also being undertaken in line with the Communications department to put 
information online through the Councils website and social media accounts with links 
to a range of agencies that will be able to provide appropriate advice and assistance 
in order to reach different groups of people who may not be able to receive any paper 
leaflets etc

 The Home Office made funding available to Community groups to create and run 
projects on ‘Hate Crime’; as Local Authorities cannot claim it, all of the details have 
been given to local community groups so that they can make full use of it

 The Housing Department are worked with closely as they are more likely to 
encounter potential victims and offenders when they are carrying out so many 
housing visits around the Borough

 Opportunities are being explored for joint working with organisations and agencies 
already engaging with young people e.g. KCC Youth Services, The Gr@nd Project, 
Gravesham’s Youth Council, to encourage discussion and debate about hate crime, 
its impact, how to seek advice or report incidents and encourage young people 
themselves to offer suggestions for activities that they feel would be beneficial and 
which they may be able to participate in delivering

Following questions from Members the Strategic Manager (Community Safety), the 
Operational Manager (CSU) and Inspector Chris Carter, Kent Police advised that:

 The leaflets logos ‘Love Gravesend’ are from a wider campaign run by the 
Communications Department but the point can be raised with them about changing 
Gravesend to Gravesham to better include the whole Borough

Page 5



4

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 13.10.2016

 Post Brexit there has been a significant rise in reports of ‘hate crime’ nationally but 
this is not reflected in the Borough and there is also no conclusive evidence that the 
increase has only come from Brexit; the refugee situation in Europe could also of 
been a factor

 Both physical and verbal reports of hate crime would be classified under the violent 
crimes category

 Social media and training for school children is largely covered by an ex-PCSO who 
is managed centrally; she delivers e-safety training for schools all around the 
Borough to raise awareness

 The Kent Police Family Coordinator Liaison Officer works closely with schools and 
the CSU to help identify problems with children early on and provide support for 
victims; liaise with families to try and rectify the situation before any serious damage 
is caused

 Choices (Providing Specialist Domestic Abuse Services) have a LGBT officer that 
provides support to the Gravesham LGBT community with any problems or 
prejudices they face

 Word of mouth helps services gain attention; once a few individuals have been 
helped then it spreads through the community with much more ease and trust is 
slowly built up in the service that is provided

 A meeting has been set up with Jo Hook from Kent County Council’s  Early 
HelpTeam next week; the topic of external speakers at school can be discussed with 
her

The Chair gave permission to Cllr Steve Thompson who thanked the Committee and officers 
for taking this subject so seriously and agreeing it should be a priority; he also asked a 
number of questions on the subject at hand to which the officers explained that:

 With regard to the Equality Impact Assessment on Appendix 1 of the report it only 
says N/A as the report does not have a decision for the Committee to make

 At the moment it would be of no use to the Council if hate crime figures were 
released as it is more management than performance data, however a daily report is 
received and an officer is tasked with investigating each individual reporting of a hate 
crime

 A weekly report is also received which shows the amount of hate crimes reported in 
the previous thirty days – there are no additional details given, each case must be 
investigated and the remaining details are attained by officers which is why the 
reports on their own would be of no use to GBC

Page 6



5

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 13.10.2016

 KCC’s Community Safety Team (who provide crime and ASB data to CSUs) can be 
contacted regarding the figures of hate crime to try to ascertain what future figures 
that will be provided will consist of

 The Independent Police Advisory Group is formed of Community leaders who meet 
at County level to discuss important issues surrounding hate crime; transgender is a 
hot issue

 Third party reporting availability is essential so that crimes can be reported by those 
who would not do otherwise due to lack of anonymity or not wanting to talk to Police; 
Crimestoppers is always willing to take any reports and the Council itself is thinking 
of creating a small team from staff members and training them to be able to take 
down any reports that are brought to the Civic Centre

 More emphasis should have been put on the fact that it is Hate Crime week and it 
was unfortunate that no press release was sent out by the Communications 
department which can be brought up with them after the meeting

A Member put the idea forward that actually, it is the older generation that requires further 
training on prevention of hate crime and awareness rather than the younger generation and 
inquired as to how they could be targeted.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety) advised that there is a limit to how much GBC 
can reach the older generation; all available advertisements and strategies are currently 
being used to reach out to all age groups but the reality is that it has to be seen that Hate 
Crime is totally unacceptable in Gravesham. Continued press releases will also be written to 
remind people about hate crime and Members can help by talking to their own constituents 
and getting the message across.

Members noted the information contained within the report.

15. Legislative Update

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety) presented the Committee with a report that 
provided a brief overview and details of new or planned legislation that may be of interest to 
the Committee’s Members in view of areas of community safety activity that have been 
considered by the Committee at previous meetings or in respect of which details have been 
specifically requested by Committee Members.

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety) advised Members the report outlined the 
increased sentencing for drivers caught texting and a summary of key points of psychoactive 
substance misuse.

Following Members questions the Strategic Manager (Community Safety) and Inspector 
Chris Carter, Kent Police clarified that:

Page 7



6

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee 13.10.2016

 As of yet there is not a strategy for a crackdown on catching texting drivers but one 
may be being formulated in line with next year’s new legislation

 In 2015, 43 tickets were issued; 46 tickets have been issued this year by officers in 
the Gravesham area with a further 6 being caught by cameras, presumably static 
cameras

 When the government announces new regulations there will be a THINK! Campaign 
to deter people from texting and driving; materials will be released closer to the time 
and signs will be put on roads around Gravesend

 The License to Kill event is supported by GBC which talks about the dangers of 
driving to the last year of sixth forms in schools around Gravesham

 Trading Standards are aware of the shops in Gravesend that are selling illegal 
tobacco and are working closely with the Kent Police Drug Liaison Officer

 Kent Police have had no additional reporting of crack cocaine use in Lord Street car 
park however Members are encouraged to report anything they hear to the Police

 Kent Police are fully aware of the illegal activities around the Clocktower and they are 
being monitored

Members noted the information contained in the report

16. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Update

Members were shown the minutes of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime 
Panel held in the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 
14 June 2016.

Members noted the information contained in the report, that the council is represented on the 
Panel and that the minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel meeting would 
be brought to future meetings of the Committee.

Close of meeting

The meeting ended at 8:55pm.

Page 8



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 15 
November 2016.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr P Clokie, OBE, Cllr M Dearden, Cllr M Franklin, Cllr P Fleming, Cllr F Gooch, 
Cllr A Horton, Mr T L Shonk (Substitute for Cllr Chris Wells), Cllr Sloan, Cllr P Todd, 
Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Cllr R Turpin (Substitute for Cllr H Tejan), Dr M R Eddy and 
Mrs E Bolton

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper 
(PCC's Chief of Staff) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer)

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Campbell (Policy Officer) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

201. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 8 September 2016 
(Item 4)

1. Subject to the correction of the inconsistency around the description of the 
Independent Member throughout the minutes it was: 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2016 be signed 
by the Chairman as a correct record.

202. Support for Victims 
(Item B1)

1. The Commissioner introduced this item and highlighted Compass House in 
Ashford which provided a co-ordinated hub for victim services in Kent.  HMIC had 
recently visited Compass House as part of their fact finding and were very 
complimentary about the services on offer.  The Commissioner praised his staff 
for their work on developing Compass House prior to his arrival.  

2. The Commissioner referred Members to paragraph 17 of the report which 
evidenced greater numbers of victims able to access support, victim satisfaction 
was very high and the Commissioner paid credit to the Victim Support team. 
There had been a drop in overall victim satisfaction from 79% to 74% but the 
Commissioner and his team were working with Kent Police to understand the 
reasons and learn lessons to improve satisfaction levels.  

3. Referring to specialist victim services £450,000 had been allocated to charities 
and the Commissioner highlighted some including East Kent Rapeline and Family 
Matters, who were working with child victims of sexual assault, the charity DAVSS 
which provided support for male victims of domestic violence and Choices DA 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

service in Dartford which was providing an Independent Domestic Violence 
Adviser for men and LGBT victims.  The Commissioner was aiming to visit all the 
charities he had provided funding to.  

4. A Member asked whether victims had to travel to Compass House, had any work 
been done on whether victims were willing to travel and where the visitors to 
Compass House were coming from.  The Commissioner explained that Victim 
Support operate Compass Points, making themselves available in every district 
for those people who are not able to travel to Ashford.  The Commissioner offered 
to submit a report to a future meeting of the Panel setting out the number of 
victims visiting Compass House.  

5. Another Member asked whether there were particular hard to reach or isolated 
communities which could really benefit from the services available but did not 
access them?  If there were pockets across Kent which did not access the 
support available due to, for example, culture or race, what action was Compass 
House taking to support these groups?  The Commissioner confirmed that 
Compass House focussed on being accessible and breaking down cultural 
barriers and offered to talk to Compass House about this issue and to provide a 
report back.    

6. One Member asked whether there was any value in a Kent wide group sharing 
good and bad practice across victim support services.  The Commissioner 
explained that the Victim Support contract ensured Kent wide coverage, and his 
office also tried to ensure Kent wide coverage when deciding on grant allocations.  
The Commissioner also outlined an important project with Essex Police focused 
on child sexual exploitation and Modern Day Slavery, with a Coordinator working 
hard to break down barriers within certain communities and promote the support 
available.  The domestic abuse contract was also county wide with triage provided 
by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and services provided within 
the districts.  

7. A Member asked how success was defined in relation to specialist victim 
services, particularly in relation to support for victims of hate crime who had 
autism or learning difficulties.  The Commissioner explained that services such as 
‘Talking Therapies’ had had a tremendous impact on the waiting list for 
counselling support for young people.  The Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) were being challenged to do all they could to support vulnerable people.  

8. A Member congratulated Victim Support on being awarded the core victim 
services contact in December 2015.  The Commissioner explained that money 
had been received from the Ministry of Justice to procure the service.  

9. In response to a comment from a member about how crime was perceived, the 
Commissioner explained that the classification of hate crime was a decision for 
the Force.  Since the EU Referendum there had been an increase in reported 
incidents of hate crime linked with race and religion.

10.The Commissioner was asked what his opinion was of the consultation from the 
Minister for Policing, Fire, Criminal Justice and Victims on the devolution of the 
remaining nationally commissioned victim’s services.  The Commissioner 
explained that he was in favour of services being joined up where appropriate; he 

Page 10



3

would be supportive of the devolution of the remaining nationally commissioned 
victim’s services.

11.A Member asked about support for businesses as victims of crime.  Businesses 
wanted to have confidence in the charging process and confidence in the 
prosecution process.  The Commissioner explained that business crime across 
the county was extremely important to him.  The Commissioner had been very 
active meeting businesses in Kent and had recently travelled to Ramsgate to 
meet businesses there.  The Federation of Small Businesses had been consulted 
on their views and concerns.  Referring to the prosecution process the 
Commissioner said it was a decision for the Crown Prosecution Service over 
whether to pursue cases to prosecution.  If more powers were devolved and 
Commissioners got oversight of performance of the criminal justice system the 
Commissioner would have more powers in this area.  The Commissioner also 
referred to ‘Track my Crime’ which could be used more with victims to ensure they 
had confidence that the policing service was robust.  

12.The Chairman closed this item commenting that victims and policing should not 
be seen as separate entities, the Commissioner confirmed that victims and 
witnesses were his priority and also that of Kent Police.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s report on Support for Victims.   

203. Update on expenditure to support the Police and Crime Plan 
(Item B2)

1. The Commissioner explained that up to the summer he had honoured the funding 
commitments made by the former Commissioner.  The Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) published, via its website, all expenditure over 
£500.  The Commissioner paid tribute to Safer Kent for their support with 
administering the Youth Diversion Fund.  

2. The Commissioner highlighted the work of the Kenward Trust which delivered 
sessions to young people hosted by a reformed drug addict.  The Commissioner 
had attended a session and the presenter had had a huge impact on the young 
people not only demonstrating the effects of drugs on his body and health but on 
his community from a real life scenario.  

3. The Commissioner explained a number of the projects set out within the report 
which had received funding from the OPCC in the last six months.  

4. The Commissioner was reviewing the funding available to ensure it was achieving 
value for money.  

5. The Commissioner was congratulated on the projects set out within the report and 
for the transparency offered by the OPCC in producing the report outlining how 
OPCC expenditure was being spent.  The Member asked for a fuller list showing 
the grants in other areas which were not so high profile.  

POST MEETING NOTE:  A list of all OPCC expenditure (April – October 2016) was 
circulated to Members of the Panel via email on 22.11.16.

Page 11



4

6. In response to a question about feedback received from community groups the 
Commissioner explained that all groups in receipt of funding were required to 
complete monitoring forms to ensure that money had been spent where agreed 
and the results monitored.  If the funding was not spent it would be returned and 
the group might not receive funding in the future if there were poor results.  

7. In response to a question about the importance of role models the Commissioner 
confirmed that he thought role models to be very important, Kenward Trust had 
mentors with real life experience of working with young people across Kent and 
Medway.  Any overlaps found between the groups receiving funding were 
challenged and lessons learned.  

8. A Member commended the report but asked how many young people were not 
being reached by the groups set out within the report.  The Commissioner 
explained that it was his hope that no part of the county was forgotten, he worked 
with Kent Youth County Council and Medway Youth Parliament to promote the 
groups and encouraged direct engagement with young people to ensure the right 
message was getting out into communities.  

9. A Member pointed out that acknowledgement had not been given to the OPCC 
within the sponsorship section on the website of one of the groups, Urban Blue 
Bus Ltd.  The Commissioner explained that it was a requirement attached to the 
funding that acknowledgement was given, he was sure it was an oversight but it 
would be checked. 

10.The Chairman suggested that future reports on expenditure could be prepared in 
consultation with Panel officers, who might suggest particular items to highlight.  
The Commissioner agreed to this suggestion.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s Update on expenditure to 
support the Police and Crime Plan and that future reports be prepared in consultation 
with Panel officers. 

204. Mobile Policing & Emergency Services Network 
(Item B3)

1. The Commissioner introduced this report and explained that it gave an update on 
mobile policing within Kent Police and the national Emergency Services Network 
that would be operational by 2020.  The aim was to provide officers with the tools 
needed on the front line.  Body worn cameras had been rolled out force wide and 
had proved to be a fantastic, robust piece of equipment which officers could use 
to show evidence to lawyers and the public resulting in earlier guilty pleas and 
moderating the behaviour of all involved.  

2. The Commissioner outlined an example of where the body worn cameras had 
been successful, during one incident where police were called by a victim of 
domestic violence, the victim had changed her mind about the incident by the time 
the police arrived but footage taken by the body worn camera revealed injuries 
caused by the perpetrator.  

3. Smartphones had also been rolled out across Kent Police and now forces were 
looking for integrated mobile solutions.

Page 12



5

4. A Member asked whether there was a mechanism in place to hold the force to 
account for the delivery of officer free time as mentioned in paragraph 6 of the 
report, as well as how the PCC would oversee this project.  Paragraph 26 of the 
report stated that the Commissioner’s Chief of Staff chaired a quarterly IT Delivery 
Board where progress against the delivery of all Kent Police IT projects was 
reviewed.  The Commissioner explained that the saving of 1 hour per officer per 
shift of transaction time was an early estimate based on pilot projects.  It was 
necessary to review quantitative and qualitative data and the equipment would be 
very valuable in allowing officers to complete paperwork, whilst monitoring 
offenders at A&E, for example.  The Commissioner assured Members that he was 
very hands on with monitoring IT projects and held regular meetings to review 
progress.  

5. A Member asked about the cost of the scheme and the mobile coverage provided.  
The Commissioner explained that the costs were difficult to clarify at this stage as 
the handsets had not been purchased yet, since the technology would improve 
over the next couple of years and it was important to get the right device, at the 
right time.  In terms of operational cost, the Commissioner referred to the decision 
on page 25 of the agenda and explained that this was indicative of the costs to 
Kent Police.  The Commissioner explained that the coverage and operability 
function had to be 99.999% otherwise the scheme would fail at a critical time.  

6. In response to a question from a Member about whether fingerprint technology 
would be used the Commissioner explained that it currently would not.  Members 
raised concerns about the mobile coverage provided and the ability of the mobile 
phone operators to deliver a national project, the Commissioner confirmed that he 
would do everything possible to hold the providers to account and he was aware 
that sometimes time could not be quantified when it came to saving officer time.  

7. Another Member expressed nervousness about changing contracts and asked 
whether it would be a gradual phase in of the new technology and whether there 
would be a pilot scheme.  The Commissioner explained that a gradual roll out was 
planned, other forces would adopt the new technology before Kent and Kent 
would learn lessons from the other forces.  A lot of thought would go into the 
mobile devices to ensure the handset had the right functionality for Kent.  

8. Mr Phillips, the Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer, confirmed that the cost of 
the handsets had been built into the programme; it was not an unexpected cost.  

9. A Member asked for assurance that the hand held devices were fit for purpose 
and could be used when supplying aid to other forces.  Mr Harper, the 
Commissioner’s Chief of Staff, explained that it was a national project and that all 
handsets and vehicles would use the system and that the devices were 
interoperable.  

10. In response to a query about the timescale for the roll out of this project the 
Commissioner explained that it would be rolled out in Kent during 2018/19.  

11.Mr Phillips explained that the budget for mobile policing was £5.9million over the 
next 4 years and the budget for the Emergency Services Network project was 
£9.5 million, this was a huge national project.  

Page 13



6

12. In response to a concern from a Member about the capacity of the mobile network 
in the case of a national emergency the Commissioner explained that the 
emergency services network would always be prioritised.  

13.The Chairman closed this item by asking whether the project would extend to 
other partners and the Commissioner confirmed that he would look into this.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s report on Mobile Policing and 
the Emergency Services Network.  

205. Mental Health - verbal update 
(Item B4)

1. The Commissioner opened this item and thanked the Councillors and Kent MPs 
for lobbying for funding for the Kent health based places of safety.  With regards 
to outreach work there would be a Thanet mobile engagement vehicle and in 
West Kent a crisis café available in partnership with West Kent Mind.  This had 
been part funded by West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and part 
funded by the Commissioner.  The Commissioner thanked everyone who had 
supported the bid.  

2. The Commissioner referred to the Police and Crime Bill, which would ban police 
cells from being used as a place of safety for children and severely restrict their 
use for adults.  West Kent CCG was holding an engagement day in December to 
help understand existing processes and to develop alternative pathways.  The 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s relationship with the Kent and 
Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust (KMPT) continued to grow.

3. A Member asked about support given to dementia patients, the Commissioner 
explained that his office had been dementia friendly trained as had all Kent Police 
staff. There was a partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue Service which was 
undertaking preventative work to ensure safety in homes.  Community Wardens 
also had the role of checking on residents with dementia ensuring visits by carers 
had been made etc.  

4. In response to a question about the relationship with the CCGs the Commissioner 
explained that through the Talking Therapies for Children scheme the 
Commissioner’s Office had been engaging with the CCGs, mental health 
scorecards had been produced for mental health services in Kent and it was clear 
that some areas were good and some not so good.  It was necessary to question 
the CCGs on why they were underperforming in some areas and determine 
methods of accountability.  

5. The Chairman referred Members to a virtual dementia experience which he had 
learned of.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s verbal update on Mental Health.

206. Questions to the Commissioner 
(Item )

Page 14



7

1. Mr Sandher: 
Can the PCC provide an update on how many responses he has had to date with 
the consultation on the crime plan, the last I read there had been 800?  Are there 
any districts which are showing a low response to date, and if so what will he and 
the team be doing to increase the response rate if applicable? 

The Commissioner explained that the majority of responses had been online.  The 
consultation document had been advertised on the PCC’s website and the 
Officers were doing their best to promote the consultation.  A youth forum event 
was taking place at which it would be promoted and the Commissioner was 
looking at ways to extend the reach of the consultation and was willing to consider 
any ideas Members had. 

POST MEETING NOTE: A breakdown of responses is available here on KCC’s 
website.  

2. Mr Sandher: 
In light of the recent BBC 5 LIVE investigation report nationally about the use of 
strip searches by police forces, are you in a position to provide an update on what 
the figures are for Kent including figures on under 18?  

The Commissioner explained that the figures had not yet been verified however 
he was assured that they were very low with less than 10% strip searches.  Once 
the data was verified he would present it to the Panel.  For clarity the definition of 
a ‘strip search’ under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 is:  ‘a search 
involving removal of more than outer clothing… outer clothing includes shoes and 
socks’.  The Commissioner read out the safeguards in relation to use, which 
included:

- the police officer carrying out must be same sex as detainee;
- the search taking place in an area where detainee cannot be seen by 

anyone else, or member of opposite sex;
- whenever involves exposure of intimate body parts, must be at least two 

people present other than detainee;
- having proper regard to sensitivity and vulnerability of detainee, and every 

effort made to secure detainees cooperation and minimise embarrassment;
- detainees not normally required to remove all clothes at the same time;
- record made on custody record, including reason, those present and result. 

3. Cllr Gooch:
Of the 63 requests for Maidstone’s mobile camera deployment in 2015/16, 53 
requests came from Kent Police in order to, for example, detect parcels being 
thrown over the wall at Maidstone Prison, criminal damage, drug issues. Mindful 
that CCTV evidence is useful for detecting and investigating crimes, saving the 
Police a considerable amount of time through guilty pleas, how far will the 
reduction in CCTV, whether static or mobile, impact on valuable police time?  

Page 15

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=776&MId=6176&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=776&MId=6176&Ver=4


8

The Commissioner explained that partnerships were vital, the public and 
businesses benefited most from CCTV and it helped to protect the public from 
harm.  CCTV was one of the issues over which the PCC was contacted most 
frequently.  Kent Police were not in a position to provide a contribution to CCTV 
but they did fund the radio network which feeds into the Force Control Room.  

With regards to the impact on police time the Commissioner confirmed that he 
had considered the impact on police time and would urge operators to be mindful 
of the value provided by CCTV in the past.  

4. Mr Latchford:
Following the Commissioner’s visits last week to a number of Parish Councils in 
Thanet (within my division) I understand that you undertook to look into the 
question of PCSOs and extending their powers. Can I ask what the current 
situation is please? 

The Commissioner confirmed that he had made a commitment to reviewing the 
discretionary powers of the Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs). There 
were currently 20 Standard Powers and 22 Discretionary Powers available to 
Chief Constables to delegate.  Kent’s PCSOs already had 10 of the discretionary 
powers and these were published on the PCC’s website.  The Commissioner 
would discuss further with the Chief Constable the powers of the PCSOs and 
would present a further report at a future meeting of the Panel.

RESOLVED that the Panel thank the Commissioner for providing answers to 
Member’s questions.

207. Commissioner's Decisions - 008 - 010 
(Item D1)

1. With regard to the decision over the Dedicated Complaint Managers, a Member 
explained that she understood that Kent Police should be undertaking this 
function.  The Commissioner explained that there was an underspend in the 
Police budget and the proposal was to fund dedicated complaint managers.  The 
PCC holds the Chief Constable to account however the only statutory duty that 
the Commissioner had in relation to complaints was around those made about the 
Chief Constable personally.  The Commissioner’s staff dip checked police records 
to ensure a consistent service was being provided and Members of the Police and 
Crime Panel were invited to attend the Commissioner’s Governance Board to 
watch the PCC challenge the Chief Constable.  

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s Decisions.

208. Future work programme 
(Item E1)

RESOLVED that the Panel note the future work programme.  

Page 16



Classification:
Appendix 1: Part 1 - Public
Appendix 2: Part 2 - Exempt

Key Decision:
No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Date: 28 February 2017

Reporting Officer: Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit

Subject: Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2016

Purpose and summary of report:
The document attached as Appendix 1 is a revised version of the full Community Safety Strategic 
Assessment completed on behalf of the joint Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership that has been tailored to focus on levels of crime and disorder recorded locally in 
Gravesham.  It is provided to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee in order that Members 
have an opportunity to consider changing patterns in recorded crime and anti-social behaviour and 
are aware of how the Assessment’s findings are used to contribute to decision-making in respect 
of local community safety priorities.  Members are asked to note that information provided in 
Appendix 2 is exempt from publication as this data remains the property of Kent Police, is 
protectively marked and will therefore, be discussed separately.

Recommendations
Members are asked to:

a) Consider and comment upon the content of the Strategic Assessment;
b) Consider and comment upon work carried out during the course of the year to address 

local priorities;
c) Endorse the recommendations identified in the Strategic Assessment and offer any further 

suggestions for future work as appropriate.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a legal requirement on all Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs) to complete an annual audit of crime and disorder known as the 
Strategic Assessment.  The primary purpose is to assess the current levels of crime and 
anti-social behaviour (ASB) and allow an opportunity for existing priorities to be reviewed 
and revised if necessary to reflect changing circumstances.  This may mean having to 
focus attention on a particular crime type that is escalating, responding to new legislation or 
taking advantage of opportunities to work in collaboration with different partner agencies or 
community groups.

 
1.2 The Strategic Assessment process is intended to ensure that decisions taken are based on 

sound evidence.  Data has been provided by a range of partner agencies, chiefly for the 12-
month period, 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2016 and comparisons are drawn where 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



possible, between our performance locally in Gravesham and that of other Kent Districts 
and Medway as well as with those areas falling within our Most Similar Group (MSG).  
Whilst Dartford and Gravesham have a joint CSP, this document has been tailored to 
specifically focus on crime and disorder in our local area in order to provide greater clarity 
and more detail on the work that has been taking place in Gravesham to improve 
community safety and to enable discussion in respect of future priorities.

1.3 An Executive Summary can be found at the beginning of the Assessment (page 5) together 
with a series of recommendations for activity both for the CSP and the local Community 
Safety Unit (CSU) in 2017-18.  

1.4 Members may also be interested in the sections in the Assessment at the end of each of 
the crime categories/areas of focus that highlight key multi-agency work that has taken 
place in the last 12 months.

2. Appendices

Appendix 1:  Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2016 - Gravesham 

Appendix 2:  Information extracted from the Strategic Assessment that falls into Part 2 – 
Exempt

3. Background Papers  

None – Data sources are acknowledged throughout the Strategic Assessment.

Page 18



APPENDIX 1

Gravesham Community Safety Unit

Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2016
GRAVESHAM

Page 19



2 | P a g e

Contents
Ref. Item Page

Introduction 3
1. Executive Summary and Recommendations 5
2. Demographics – Our Area and Our People

- Geographical context and our population
- Diversity
- Households and housing tenure
- Deprivation
- Unemployment
- Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)
- Mosaic profiles

11
11
11
11
11
12
13
14

3. Total recorded crime 15
4. Violent crime

- Violence against the person, sexual offences and robbery
- Domestic abuse
- Hospital admissions linked to violence
- Violence Reduction Nurse Programme

17
17
19
23
24

5. Acquisitive and property crime
- Burglary dwelling
- Burglary other than dwelling
- Vehicle crime
- Theft and handling stolen goods
- Criminal damage

26
26
26
26
27
29

6. Substance misuse
- Police recorded drug offences
- Drug and alcohol treatment
- Hospital admissions linked to substance misuse

31
31
31
32

7. Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) 35
8. Anti-social behaviour (ASB)

- Police recorded incidents of ASB
- Deliberate and accidental fires
- Noise nuisance
- Road safety

36
36
36
37
38

9. Reducing offending and reoffending
- CRC caseload overview
- Proven reoffending rates
- Kent and Medway Integrated Offender Management (IOM)
- First time entrants to the criminal justice system

41
41
43
44
44

10. Protecting people and safeguarding
- Families and social care (adults)
- Young people aged 16-18 years (vulnerable groupings)
- Missing children
- Troubled Families
- Mental health
- Hate crime

46
46
47
47
49
50
52

11. Horizon scanning – Postello analysis 54
12. Partnership Contacts 57

Page 20



3 | P a g e

Introduction 

What is the Strategic Assessment?
The Community Safety Strategic Assessment is produced each year as required by the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998.  It gathers research, evidence and intelligence from Kent-wide and local sources as well as 
drawing upon the professional expertise of those working at District level.  The Assessment is designed to:

 Provide a clear picture of current community safety issues;
 Reflect trends and emerging new issues;
 Identify locations and communities most affected by these issues;
 Be objective and evidence-led with the aim of presenting the needs of the communities we serve 

across public service organisations.

The Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is already in the process of implementing 
a three-year Community Safety Strategy 2016-19.  The main aim of this Assessment is to identify any 
changes in circumstances that might necessitate amendments to the existing Strategy and to ensure that 
new or emerging local priorities are addressed.  It should be noted that this edition of the Assessment is 
specific to Gravesham and has been tailored and prepared for the purposes of discussion by the 
Gravesham Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee. 

Methodology
Most of the data relating to crime and disorder collated for this Assessment covers the period 1 October 
2015 to 30 September 2016, unless otherwise stated.  Sufficient time has now elapsed between the 
introduction of changes in several definitions of crime types and in the application of Home Office Counting 
Rules for recorded crime, to permit year-on-year comparisons to be completed.  Data has been extracted 
from information published or provided by a range of partner agencies and made available to Community 
Safety Units via the Kent Connects Community Safety Portal and from records held locally by Gravesham 
Borough Council.  

Wherever possible, data has been analysed at a local level.  Comparisons are drawn between our local 
performance and performance in other Kent Districts and Medway and of our Partnership’s position with 
other Partnerships within our Most Similar Group (MSG) that share characteristics with our area.  CSPs 
(other than Dartford and Gravesham) within our MSG are listed below, preceded by the Police Service 
responsible for policing in that area:

Kent – Medway Wiltshire – Swindon
Essex – Thurrock Cambridgeshire – Peterborough
Essex – Basildon Hampshire – Havant
Metropolitan Police – Havering Devon and Cornwall – Torbay
Sussex – Crawley Greater Manchester – Stockport
Thames Valley – Milton Keynes Greater Manchester – Bury
Hertfordshire – Broxbourne West Yorkshire – Kirklees

In 2012, a review of Kent Police by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) concluded that Kent 
Police correctly recorded 90% of allegations of crime made to them.  The Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Kent at that time requested that HMIC carry out an in-depth review of recording practices and 
recommendations were made as a result of this process.  Kent Police were given sufficient time to 
implement these recommendations and also underwent a follow-up assessment by HMIC.  In November 
2014, HMIC released findings of the secondary inspection which found that amendments to recording 
practices had resulted in Kent Police correctly recording 96% of allegations of crime.

Page 21



4 | P a g e

Following the initial inspection of Kent Police, in 2014 HMIC began carrying out similar assessments of 
every other police service in England and Wales.  These assessments were not carried out to a sufficient 
scale to enable services to be given a percentage accuracy rate, however, each service was provided with 
recommendations for improving practices.  HMIC have now commenced the process of returning to each 
service to carry out a detailed inspection.  At the time of writing, HMIC have published a crime recording 
accuracy rating for only three further police services: Staffordshire Police (91.02%); Sussex Police (94.59%) 
and Greater Manchester Police (85.49%).  HMIC estimate that these accuracy levels result in each of the 
aforementioned services failing to record thousands of crimes each year (6,700 by Staffordshire Police, 
5,300 by Sussex Police and 38,000 by Greater Manchester Police).

This is relevant to us as our MSG includes two CSPs covered by Greater Manchester Police and one from 
the Sussex Police area and inaccurate recording practices by these services are very likely to have affected 
the MSG position rankings.  Without knowing a percentage accuracy rate for all CSPs in the Group and how 
any inaccuracies affect the recording of each crime type, it is impossible to know the extent to which our 
ranking position is affected.  However, it is possible to say that this undermines any representation of our 
CSP’s performance through comparative analysis against the MSG.

Format
Following a primary section that provides a demographic, social and economic context, the Assessment 
includes sections that consider crime, anti-social behaviour and related information that reflect the 
priorities within our Community Safety Strategy.  Each section concludes by highlighting key work 
undertaken by partner agencies during the year relevant to the area of analysis and recommendations for 
future activity.

Gravesham Community Safety Unit
12 February 2017

Page 22



5 | P a g e

1. Executive Summary

1.1 Total crime
Between October 2015-September 2016, Gravesham has seen an increase in total crime of 14.7% -
in line with a rise in recorded crime seen in all Kent Districts and Medway.  Some increases have 
occurred in most crime categories although significant improvements have been seen in burglary 
offences and some theft categories.  Rises in criminal damage offences also mean that a 
considerable proportion of total crime is linked to property and environmental damage frequently 
and historically associated with anti-social behaviour (ASB).  Following this review of performance 
over the last year, it is suggested that the priorities that form the basis of the current Community 
Safety Strategy 2016-19 remain largely unchanged. The objectives identified within the Strategy still 
stand and ongoing work alongside recommendations for future activity contained in this document 
should mean that the Partnership and local Community Safety Unit (CSU) are well-placed to work 
towards their achievement.

1.2 Violent Crime
The increases seen in violent crime and the volume of offences are a concern and this will remain 
the highest priority for Gravesham’s CSU.  This position is not at all unique to our area – the 
average increase across Kent and Medway in violent crime is 27.8%.  However, the increase locally 
was of 34.6% and proportionally violent crime accounted for over a third of all crime in the Borough.  
From information shared at CSU daily briefings and CCTV data, the increase in violence does not 
appear to be linked to the night-time economy and figures will have been affected by the 
increasing number of domestic abuse cases and particularly by changes in both the accuracy in and 
practices for the recording of violent offences (including the recording of historical offences). The 
volume of offences of violence against the person make this the one single offence category placing 
the greatest demand on services.   

1.3 Domestic abuse
Levels of domestic abuse in Gravesham remain high and offences constitute a significant 
proportion of all crime.  A considerable number of violent crimes are domestic incidents and an 
increase in the number of victims accessing a range of local services indicate that this issue is 
widespread and unlikely to diminish for some time.  This Assessment has established that victims 
seeking support services are still very predominantly female and there appears to have been a 
reduction in the number of BME victims accessing advice and assistance in the last year.

1.4 Substance misuse
The number of recorded offences has changed only very slightly in the last year and this is also the 
case in terms of people accessing and entering into a structured drug and/or alcohol treatment 
programme.  There have also been good reductions in the number of adults being admitted to 
hospital due to the use of a psychoactive substance or due to alcohol intake.  The number of young 
people admitted to hospital specifically for reasons linked to drug or alcohol misuse also remain 
very small although in Gravesham a greater number of girls and young women than boys or young 
men were admitted compared to neighbouring areas where the male to female ratio for 
admissions was much closer.

1.5 Serious and Organised Crime (SOC)
Whilst investigations into SOC will necessarily have to be led and directed by Police, the indication 
is that partner agency roles in supporting Police, both in intelligence gathering and potentially 
proactive and operational matters, are set to grow.  Limited information only has been shared in 
our Local SOC Profiles however, these do highlight that child sexual exploitation, gang-related 
activity and serious sexual offences are categories of SOC which may come to rely more heavily on 
a multi-agency approach than has previously been the case.

Page 23



6 | P a g e

1.6 Burglary offences
Burglary dwelling offences have seen a good reduction in Gravesham (falling by 10.4%) and whilst 
rates per 1,000 households remain higher than the Kent average, the CSP performs well in terms of 
its position within its Most Similar Group (MSG), ranking 6th and with offences below the average 
within the Group.  Burglary other than dwelling offences has seen a significant reduction of 28.0% 
and the rate of offences per 1,000 population in Gravesham is now close to the County average. 

1.7 Theft and handling offences
1.7.1 The level of theft and handling offences has increased marginally in Gravesham (+1.2%).  In volume 

terms, theft and handling offences constitute the second largest proportion of total crime after 
violent crime.  However, the rate of offences in Gravesham per 1,000 population remains below the 
County average. 

1.7.2 A reduction has been recorded in ‘other thefts’ although the volume of offending remains 
sufficiently high to require this area to continue to be prioritised, particularly in relation to 
organised cross-border activity and criminal networks targeting our area for theft and property 
crime due to our geographical position rather than petty theft or shoplifting.

1.8 Criminal damage
Criminal damage offences have increased across the board with the exception of Medway.  
Offences have increased by 22.1% in Gravesham – this being the second greatest increase recorded 
in the County.  Criminal damage is also a high volume offence category (over 15.0% of total crime) 
and rates per 1,000 population are third highest in the County.  This is echoed in our CSP ranking 
within our MSG (14th position).  Although criminal damage has not been a headline priority for 
some years, the increase seen this year combined with the volume of offences warrants further 
attention, hence the recommendation that this crime category be added as a CSP and local CSU 
priority in 2017-18. 

1.9 Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)
1.9.1 There has been a general pattern of reduction in ASB across the County – the average reduction in 

Kent was of 1.5% and it is very positive that Gravesham has exceeded this by seeing a reduction of 
3.2%.  Both in terms of volume (just over 3,000 incidents in Gravesham) and rates per 1,000 
population, ASB will remain a key priority for the CSP and the local CSU.

1.9.2 Legislation resulting in a range of new powers is still in the early stages of being tested and ASB that 
involves either victims and/or perpetrators with a set of complex needs or issues increasing their 
vulnerability or influencing offending behaviour, is largely and will continue to be dependent upon, 
collaborative multi-agency working to achieve a resolution.

1.10 Reducing reoffending
Proven adult reoffending rates have improved significantly in Gravesham (falling from 23.8% to 
18.9%). This rate is below the Kent average. The Integrated Offender Management (IOM) 
programme appears to be having a positive impact with very significant reductions in offending 
(amongst the best in the County) in respect of our IOM cohort. Gravesham has also seen a 
considerable reduction in first time entrants to the criminal justice system from 379 to 175 entrants 
– a drop of 53.8%.  Information provided at the time of writing did not offer an explanation for this, 
therefore it is recommended that this be analysed in further detail to enable the Partnership and 
local CSU to establish the reasons for the reduction in order that it can continue to deliver what is 
working so well.

1.11 Protecting people and safeguarding
1.11.1 The protection of people who may be more vulnerable to becoming victims of crime and 

strengthening community cohesion to safeguard neighbourhoods, has increasingly become a 

Page 24



7 | P a g e

national as well as a local concern, in particular, the protection of young people who may be at 
greater risk of being drawn into crime and/or ASB or of becoming victims of crime or exploitation. 
This Assessment has included information in respect of missing children (Gravesham had the 3rd 
highest number of missing episodes) and in relation to 16-18 year olds who are identified as being 
vulnerable.  Information provided is limited but this area would benefit from closer joint working to 
enable agencies to better coordinate and respond to the needs of vulnerable young people and to 
carry out preventative work.    

1.11.2 Hate crime is widely acknowledged by the Home Office as suffering from considerable under-
reporting and this will have contributed to the low level of offences recorded.  However, 
Gravesham has seen an increase in recorded hate crime, particularly in the first 6 months of the 
current financial year (as have most Kent Districts).  Given the national drive to address hate crime, 
in any of its forms, it is incumbent on the Partnership and the local CSU to further develop its’ No 
Space For Hate initiative to encourage confidence in victims to report and to access help and 
support available to them.

1.12 A breakdown of all crime categories is provided in the table below for ease of reference but each 
major category is considered separately and with a broader analysis within the body of this 
Assessment.

Details of work that has been carried out by the Partnership and local CSU during the course of the 
year is highlighted at the end of each of the sections of the Assessment whilst a series of 
recommendations for potential future activity that may need to be developed to respond to 
emerging priorities resulting from the analysis or in response to data/information that has been 
provided by partner agencies for the Assessment process are listed on pages 8-10.

Total recorded crime October 2015-September 2016 – Gravesham

Category
Volume

YE Sept 2015
Volume

YE Sept 2016 No. change % change
Per 1,000 pop. 
YE Sept 2016

Victim Based Crime 6,783 7,697 914 13.5% 72.4
Violent crime 2,244 3,020 776 34.6% 28.4
- Violence against the person 2,030 2,692 622 32.6% 25.3
- Sexual offences 121 204 83 68.6% 1.9
- Robbery 93 124 31 33.3% 1.2
Burglary dwelling 386 346 -40 -10.4% 8.6*
Burglary other than dwelling 642 462 -180 -28.0% 4.3
Vehicle crime 692 772 80 11.6% 7.3
- Theft of motor vehicle 221 231 10 4.5% 2.2
- Theft from motor vehicle 471 541 70 14.9% 5.1
Vehicle interference 89 94 5 5.6% 0.9
Theft and handling 1,580 1,599 19 1.2% 15.0
- Shoplifting 438 490 52 11.9% 4.6
- Theft of pedal cycle 52 71 19 36.5% 0.7
- Other theft 1,090 1,038 -52 -4.8% 9.8
Criminal damage 1,150 1,404 254 22.1% 13.2
Crimes against society 460 612 152 33.0% 1.4
Drug offences 132 130 -2 -1.5% 1.2
Possession of weapons 20 39 19 95.0% 0.4
Public order offences 196 306 110 56.1% 2.9
Other crime 112 137 25 22.3% 1.3
Total crime 7,243 8,309 1,066 14.7% 78.2

*Burglary dwelling rates are calculated per 1,000 households

Page 25



8 | P a g e

1.13 Priority Areas of Work
The assessment process has shown that the following areas of work need prioritisation.  These 
remain largely unchanged from the priorities identified last year:

 Violent crime and domestic abuse
 Anti-social behaviour
 Acquisitive and property crime
 Substance misuse
 Reducing reoffending
 Road safety

In addition to the above, it is recommended that criminal damage is also adopted as a CSP 
and local priority.

The Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2016-19, recognised that three 
overarching themes: Disrupting and Preventing Organised Acquisitive Crime; Protecting and 
Strengthening Communities; and, Protecting Vulnerable People, ran across work to tackle 
traditional crime types listed above and also acknowledged the risks and harms presented by 
emerging safeguarding threats.  Depending on the circumstances of any trends identified, elements 
of work to address criminal damage will be covered within the themes of Protecting Vulnerable 
People and/or Protecting and Strengthening Communities.

1.14 Recommendations for future activity

Violent crime and domestic abuse
 Complete further analysis of violent crime to provide a better understanding of key locations 

(honed down further than Ward level), the nature of the violence involved and the victims 
profiles and identify multi-agency responses;

 Promote the use of domestic abuse services including the One-Stop Shops to encourage 
greater use by male victims and BME communities;

 Continue, where possible, to provide financial and other support to commissioned domestic 
abuse services and to agencies delivering services to support victims of sexual violence;

 Work towards reaching all SAFELIVES Benchmarks in respect of clients using the IDVA service;
 Continue to provide support to victims of domestic abuse through the Sanctuary Scheme and 

MARAC process;
 Continue to work with licensed premises to promote safer socialising and reduce the 

opportunity for violence to occur that is fuelled by alcohol consumption;
 Investigate possible joint work with town centre licensed premises and staff, particularly night 

clubs and bars, to support individuals at risk of becoming victims of serious sexual offences.

Substance misuse
 Continue to promote drug and alcohol services to encourage people into treatment;
 Continue multi-agency information-sharing to identify individuals and premises involved in 

supplying drugs and/or alcohol illegally;
 Carry out further educational and awareness-raising initiatives with young people and young 

adults in respect of the harm of psychoactive drug use;
 Increase the number of referrals being made to the MEAM programme;
 Work with local agencies/charities supporting homeless people and rough sleepers with drug 

and/or alcohol dependencies to identify and deliver interventions to protect them from harm.

Page 26



9 | P a g e

Serious Organised Crime (SOC)
 Identify officers/representatives from key partner agencies that can form ‘default groups’ to 

support operational activity to address SOC as required;
 Formalise processes for sharing and gathering intelligence from partner agencies that will 

support the identification of individuals and premises involved in SOC and enforcement action;
 Increase intelligence sharing across Borough boundaries in respect of cross-border gang theft 

activity and ensure that resources such as CCTV are fully utilised;
 Continue to deliver specific initiatives to identify young females who may be being targeted for 

CSE to raise awareness and encourage earlier identification;
 Joint work with agencies working specifically with young people involved in or at risk of 

becoming involved in substance misuse e.g. AddAction, to identify vulnerabilities to 
exploitation or being recruited into organised criminal activity;

 Continue to raise awareness of and encourage the reporting of concerns relating to modern 
slavery and human trafficking;

 Continue to support Prevent initiatives and participate in the Channel Panel referral process.

Acquisitive and property crime
 Targeted multi-agency work in key locations to reduce repeat victimisation and provide 

support to vulnerable residents and businesses, for e.g. to reduce susceptibility to scams, 
bogus callers etc.;

 Use of G-Safe Warnings and Exclusion Orders to reduce opportunities for identified shoplifters 
to continue to offend in our town centre/retail areas;

 Continue to work specifically with prolific offenders of acquisitive and property crime through 
the IOM programme;

 Deliver seasonal activity and local campaigns to reduce opportunistic property crime e.g. 
summer initiatives, Christmas/seasonal campaigns.

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and criminal damage
 Assess the impact of the use of new legislative powers and replicate use where appropriate;
 Continue to use daily briefings and taskings to respond promptly to reports of ASB;
 Continue to provide tailored support to high risk victims of ASB;
 Promote the use of the MEAM referral process for addressing the behaviour of those with 

complex needs engaging in ASB;
 Targeted and joint work through Families First and KCC’s Early Help and Preventative Services 

to deliver interventions with families with one individual or more involved in ASB;
 Detailed analysis of offences falling under the criminal damage category, identifying repeat 

locations, to enable the CSP and CSU to respond to increases in this crime type;
 Further develop the G-Safe and KCC Community Warden-led restorative justice project for 

resolving low-level and first time offences, particularly those involving young people;
 Extend work with Clean Kent, KF&RS and Kent Police to take action against individuals causing 

criminal damage, involved in deliberate fire-setting and fly-tipping.

Reducing reoffending
 Support the MEAM initiative to continue to improve multi-agency working in dealing with the 

needs of complex offenders to encourage them to access support and services;
 Continue to address reoffending through the IOM process and in joint work with KSS CRC e.g. 

through Community Payback;
 Refine information relating to first time entrants to the criminal justice system in our Borough 

and continue to build on positive improvements seen this year.

Page 27



10 | P a g e

Protecting people and safeguarding
 Carry out safeguarding activity to protect identified vulnerable individuals from cuckooing and 

other forms of exploitation;
 Identify possible joint work with partner agencies as appropriate to prevent young people who 

go missing from being exploited or drawn into criminality;
 Refine data and information currently provided in respect of hate crime to better understand 

the types of offences occurring, locations and profiles of both victims and perpetrators in 
order that appropriate preventative work can be carried out;

 Further develop the Hate Crime Project to raise awareness and encourage reporting by victims 
of any of the hate crime strands.

Page 28



11 | P a g e

2. Demographics – Our Area and Our People

2.1 Geographical Context and Our Population

2.1.1 Gravesham sits on the banks of the Thames and together with neighbouring Dartford, is at the 
heart of an area that is undergoing significant regeneration and redevelopment including the 
construction of the UK’s first garden city in over a century in Ebbsfleet.  The geographical position 
of our Borough, very well-served by road and rail transport links including Ebbsfleet International, 
the Channel Tunnel, a high speed link to the capital, Bluewater Shopping Centre with in excess of 
28 million visitors each year and our own town centre retail area, make it an attractive proposition 
for investment but also a readily accessible location for criminality.  

2.1.2 Mid-2015 Population Estimates indicated that there were 106,300 people living in Gravesham – the 
second smallest area population in the County and accounting for 5.9% of Kent’s total population.  
In terms of gender, 49.4% of the population were male and 50.6% were female.

2.1.3  In contrast to our numerically small population, population density (number of persons per hectare) 
is higher than the Kent average (10.7 persons per hectare in Gravesham compared to only 4.8 in 
Kent (including Medway).  Gravesham’s population has grown by 9.7% over the last 10 years (an 
additional 9,400 people) - this is the fourth lowest rate of growth of any Kent District.  Although a 
faster rate of growth is predicted over coming years, current forecasts suggest this will be at a rate 
of 10.4%, still lower than the County average of 18.8%.  This suggests Gravesham will have the 
second lowest rate of growth amongst KCC District areas between 2015-2031.  Gravesham also has 
a younger age profile compared to the County average but this is seen in a higher proportion of 
people in most age groups up to the age of 44 years.

2.2 Diversity

2.2.1 Information relating to ethnicity is taken from the findings of the 2011 Census. Information 
provided by respondents to questions about their ethnicity indicate that Gravesham has the most 
diverse population in the County with 17.2% of respondents being recorded as falling within BME 
categories (compared to a County average of 6.3%) and 82.8% describing themselves as White.  The 
most significant BME categories cited were Indian (7.4%), African (2.2%) and Other Asian (1.7%).

2.2.2 Migration was a key component in the increase in population seen Countywide between mid-2014 
and mid-2015, 83.7% of the total increase being due to migration.  However,  the proportion of the 
population increase in Gravesham due to migration was significantly less at 48.5%. 

2.3 Households and Housing Tenure

2.3.1 The 2011 Census recorded 40,431 households in Gravesham.  The greatest proportion of 
households were owner-occupied (64.5% in Gravesham compared to 67.3% in Kent including 
Medway).  A slightly higher proportion of households were within the social rented sector in 
Gravesham (17.3%) than in Kent as a whole (13.8%) whilst the proportion of households that fell 
within the privately rented sector was similar - 16.1% in Gravesham and 16.6% in Kent.

2.4 Deprivation

2.4.1 The Indices of Deprivation 2015 provide a measure of deprivation at both District and Sub-District 
(Lower Super Output Area) level, relative to other areas in England.  The table below presents the 
national and county rank of Gravesham based on the 2015 Index and how rankings have changed 
since the 2010 Index.

 

Page 29



12 | P a g e

*A minus change in rank illustrates that a District has moved down the rankings and is therefore now less deprived 
relative to other areas in England.

2.4.2 In 2015, Gravesham was ranked as the 4th most deprived District in Kent in 2015 (having moved up 
one position from 2010).  Nationally it ranks 124th and is, therefore, placed within England’s most 
deprived half of Authorities and the level of deprivation in the Borough has increased compared to 
movement nationally.  Levels of deprivation vary across Gravesham with parts of the Borough 
falling within England’s top deprived areas whilst other parts fall within the least deprived.  
Additionally, some of our most deprived areas are directly flanked by areas with relatively low 
deprivation.   Highest levels of deprivation are found in parts of Singlewell and Northfleet North 
Wards whilst the least deprived are found in parts of Meopham North and Istead Rise Wards.

2.5 Unemployment (Out of Work Claimants of Jobseekers Allowance or Universal Credit)

2.5.1 Gravesham’s unemployment rate is currently 2.0%.  There were 1,310 unemployed people in the 
Borough in September 2016 and this figure was 1.9% higher than September 2015.

Unemployment – Gravesham

IMD 2010 IMD 2015 Change in rank*
2010 to 2015Authority

IMD 2010
national 

rank
(of 326)

Kent Rank
(of 12)

IMD 2015
national 

rank
(of 326)

Kent Rank
(of 12)

National 
Position

Kent 
Position

Thanet 49 1 28 1 21 0
Swale 99 3 77 2 22 1
Shepway 97 2 113 3 -16 -1
Gravesham 142 5 124 4 18 1
Dover 127 4 126 5 1 -1
Dartford 175 7 170 6 5 1
Ashford 198 8 176 7 22 1
Canterbury 166 6 183 8 -17 -2
Maidstone 217 9 198 9 19 0
Sevenoaks 276 12 268 10 8 2
Tonbridge and Malling 268 11 274 11 -6 0
Tunbridge Wells 249 10 282 12 -33 -2

Page 30



13 | P a g e

Change since previous 
month Change since last year

District Number % Number %

Gravesham 1,310 2.0% 20 1.6% 25 1.9%

Kent 14,775 1.6% -65 -0.4% 1,825 14.1%

Great Britain 718,910 1.8% -9,390 -1.3% -7,900 -1.1%

Source: NOMIS - Claimant Count

Total 
unemployed as 
at September 

2016
Resident 

based rate %

2.5.2 Unemployment rates vary across the District with the lowest unemployment in Meopham South 
and Vigo Ward, where 0.4% of the working age population are unemployed.  The highest rate of 
unemployment is in Riverside Ward at 3.1%.

2.5.3 The majority of those unemployed in Kent are aged 18-24 years old and the proportion of those 
unemployed in this age range in Gravesham at 23.7% is very close to the Kent average of 23.1%.

2.5.4  Out of Work benefit claimants includes those people aged 16-64 claiming a key Department of 
Work and Pensions (DWP) benefit because they are not working.  As at February 2016, there were 
5,280 people in Gravesham claiming Out of Work benefits.  This is 8.0% of all 16-64 year olds and 
therefore, slightly higher than the KCC average of 7.7%. The largest proportion of recipients are 
claiming Employment Support Allowance or Incapacity Benefit and a higher proportion locally are 
classified as claimants of Jobseekers Allowance than the KCC average.  16.7% of those who are 
workless in Gravesham are lone parents claiming Income Support.

Out of Work Benefits - Gravesham

20.6%

17.2%

60.0%

66.0%

16.7%

14.0%

2.5%

2.7%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Gravesham

Kent

% of out of work benefits claimants

Out of work benefits claimants- February 2016

Jobseekers

ESA/Incapacity
benefits

Lone Parents claiming
Income Support

Others claiming
income related
benefits

Gravesham

Source:DWP Longitudinal Study
Presented by Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council

2.5.5 As with unemployment rates, Out of Work benefit claimant rates also vary across the Borough. In 
Gravesham, the lowest proportion of Out of Work benefit claimants is in Meopham North Ward 
(2.6%) and the highest rate is in Riverside Ward (13.3%).

2.6 Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)

2.6.1 Countywide there was an upward trend throughout the academic year ending 31 August 2016 in 
the number of young people that were NEET (even though the percentage of NEET in Kent was 2.56% 
less compared to the percentage at 31 August 2015).

Page 31



14 | P a g e

Area Total cohort
16-18 yrs No. NEET % NEET

Not known
16-18 yrs

Not known
 % of cohort

Ashford 4,755 205 5.04% 442 9.30%
Canterbury 4,865 272 6.23% 360 7.40%
Dartford 3,559 180 5.72% 343 9.64%
Dover 3,920 211 6.05% 373 9.52%
Gravesham 3,961 281 7.92% 360 9.09%
Maidstone 5,436 288 5.88% 444 8.17%
Sevenoaks 3,608 120 3.84% 348 9.65%
Shepway 3,857 203 5.97% 362 9.39%
Swale 5,360 379 7.84% 492 9.18%
Thanet 5,264 318 6.76% 504 9.57%
Tonbridge and Malling 4,446 202 5.04% 354 7.96%
Tunbridge Wells 4,011 217 5.98% 289 7.21%
KCC area 53,042 2,876 6.08% 4,671 8.81%

2.6.2 Gravesham saw a lower percentage of young people aged 16-18 who were NEET in August 2016 
compared to the previous year, with the proportion reducing from 10.23% to 7.92%. However, the 
proportion of NEETs in Gravesham is the highest in any District.  In this last year, no District has yet 
met their set target (to be achieved by January 2017) for reducing NEET and Gravesham had the 
largest differential between their percentage of NEET and their target (6.91% higher). 

2.7 Mosaic Profiles

2.6.1 Mosaic Public is a national classification system developed by Experian used to profile the 
characteristics of the population.  Each household is classified as belonging to one of 15 groups and 
66 types. They describe the residents of a postcode in terms of their typical demographics, 
behaviours, lifestyle characteristics and attitudes.  Characteristics of the Mosaic groups in 
Gravesham are presented below alongside the County profile.

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16%

A Country Living

B Prestige Positions

C City Prosperity

D Domestic Success

E Suburban Stability

F Senior Security

G Rural Reality

H Aspiring Homemakers

I Urban Cohesion

J Rental Hubs

K Modest Traditions

L Transient Renters

M Family Basics

N Vintage Value

O Municipal Challenge

U Unclassified

2014 Mosaic Profile For Gravesham

Kent

Source: 2014 Experian Ltd. 
© Research & Evaluation, Kent County Council

Page 32



15 | P a g e

3. Total Recorded Crime

3.1 Crime data published by Kent Police is considered below for the 12-month period from 1 October 
2015 to 30 September 2016.  Changes to the Home Office Counting Rules and in the definitions of a 
number of crime categories that were introduced in 2014 have now been in place for a sufficient 
period of time to allow comparisons to be made with the previous 12 month period. 

3.2 Total recorded crime in our CSP area has risen by 13.7% from 15,229 in the year ending September 
2015 to 17,316 offences in the current Assessment year.  Locally, Gravesham has seen an increase 
of 14.7% to from 7,243 to 8,309 offences.  

3.3 The increases recorded locally are not unique to our Borough but are mirrored in every Kent 
District and Medway with the average increase across all areas being 12.1%.  The main contributory 
factor appears to be the rise in the volume of violent crime and in particular, in offences of violence 
against the person, that has been recorded – the average increase in Kent being 27.8%.  A detailed 
analysis of violent crime is provided in Section 4 of this Assessment.  However, it is very important 
that these increases are not considered in isolation and that the impact of changes to police 
recording practices is not underestimated.  In Kent, improved accuracy in recording has 
significantly affected figures that now appear in published statistics and this is especially the case 
in respect of violent crime and domestic abuse in relation to which historic offences will have 
been calculated in the most recent year’s data that may not have been recorded previously.

3.4 Based on mid-2015 population estimates, for Gravesham residents the increase equates to a move 
from 68.1 to 78.2 offences per 1,000 population compared to a Kent-wide average of 67.8 offences.

Total Crime 
Area Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 %+/- Per 1,000 Pop.
Ashford 6,361 7,136 12.2% 57.4
Canterbury 8,997 10,365 15.2% 64.8
Dartford 7,986 9,007 12.8% 86.7
Dover 6,537 6,994 7.0% 61.8
Gravesham 7,243 8,309 14.7% 78.2
Maidstone 9,178 10,183 10.9% 61.9
Medway 19,260 21,562 11.9% 78.0
Sevenoaks 5,592 6,145 9.9% 51.9
Shepway 6,197 7,251 17.0% 65.9

Page 33



16 | P a g e

Swale 9,533 10,663 11.8% 74.9
Thanet 11,346 12,905 13.7% 92.3
Tonbridge and Malling 5,633 6,315 12.1% 50.2
Tunbridge Wells 5,040 5,287 4.9% 45.5
Kent 108,903 122,122 12.1% 67.8

3.5 In respect of total crime, comparisons with other CSPs in our Most Similar Group (MSG) indicate 
that in the year ending 30 September 2016, our CSP ranked in 13th position – the level of crime 
recorded locally per 1,000 population being higher than the average experienced by other areas 
with similar demographics to our own.  Our ranking has not changed since the last Assessment but 
the caveat relating to Kent Police’s level of accuracy in recording compared to other Force areas 
discussed in the Introduction to this Assessment must be noted.

MSG Comparison – Total Crime Oct 15-Sept 16
D & G CSP Highest Lowest MSG Average Our Position

82.3 94.7 68.2 77.4 13th

Total Recorded Crime – Gravesham
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from October 2015-September 2016

Level of crime 8,309 crimes/78.2 offences per 1,000 population.
Peer comparison 11th of 13 Kent areas (13th being the highest by rates per 1,000 

population).
13th of 15 CSPs in Most Similar Group .

Annual change Increase of 1,066 crimes (14.7% higher than the previous year).
General trend

Oct 13-Sept 14 Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16
7,701 7,243 8,309

Seasonality

794

Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16
0

200

400

600

800

1,000

634 652 694 594 690 644 638 753 741 743
732

-@

-@

@

@

@

Top 3 crime categories with 
highest volume and as a 
proportion of all recorded crime

Oct 15- Sept 16
Offence Volume % proportion
Violence against 
the person 2,692 32.4%
Criminal damage 1,404 16.9%
Other theft* 1,038

*Theft and handling excluding shoplifting and theft of pedal cycles 
offences.

Key Council Wards Based on Kent Police recorded data for the period April-September 

Page 34



17 | P a g e

2016, the following Gravesham Council Wards recorded the highest 
volumes of crime (Victim Based Crime categories only are available 
at Ward level):

Apr-Sept 16
Ward Volume % proportion of all 

VBC this period
Pelham 652 16.0%
Riverside 560 13.7%
Northfleet North 400 9.8%
Central 373 9.1%
Northfleet South 323 7.9%

4. Violent Crime

4.1 Total Violent Crime

4.1.1 ‘Violent crime’ covers a very wide spectrum of offences from murder and manslaughter, GBH, ABH, 
sexual offences, robbery to assaults with minor injury and violence without injury at all.  In the year 
ending 30 September 2016, all Kent Districts and Medway have recorded significant increases in 
levels of violent crime with an average increase across the County of 27.8%.  Improvements in 
crime recording processes by the Police are thought to be the main driver of a similar increase in 
the number of violence against the person offences nationally (Office of National Statistics: 
Overview of Violent Crime and Sexual Offences, February 2016).  Violence without injury offences 
account for almost half of all violent crime nationally and there is general acknowledgement that in 
relation to sexual offences, as well as improvements in reporting practices, figures have in part 
increased due to a greater willingness of victims to come forward.  It is likely that these factors will 
have been equally influential in Kent as they have been across the country as a whole.

4.1.2 In the year ending 30 September 2016, there were 3,020 violent crimes recorded in Gravesham, 
776 offences more than in the previous year and an increase of 28.4% – the largest percentage 
increase in any Kent area.  As demonstrated in the table below a marked rise has been seen in all 
areas.  Proportionally, violent crime accounted for over a third of all crime in Gravesham (36.3%).  

4.1.3 Locally our figures translate to a rate of 28.4 offences per 1,000 population in Gravesham 
compared to 24.4 offences on average in Kent.

Total Violent Crime
(Violence against the person, sexual offences and robbery)

Area Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 %+/- Per 1,000 Pop.
Ashford 1,893 2,328 23.0% 18.7
Canterbury 2,854 3,830 34.2% 23.9
Dartford 2,215 2,866 29.4% 27.6
Dover 2,300 2,724 18.4% 24.0
Gravesham 2,244 3,020 34.6% 28.4
Maidstone 2,943 3,685 25.2% 22.4
Medway 6,367 8,120 27.5% 29.4
Sevenoaks 1,283 1,678 30.8% 14.2
Shepway 2,241 2,872 28.1% 26.1

Page 35



18 | P a g e

Swale 2,843 3,656 28.6% 25.7
Thanet 4,024 5,166 28.4% 36.9
Tonbridge and Malling 1,579 2,106 33.4% 16.7
Tunbridge Wells 1,605 1,914 19.2% 16.5
Kent 34,393 43,965 27.8% 24.4

4.2 Violence against the Person, Sexual Offences and Robbery 

4.2.1 The majority of violent offences fall within the category of violence against the person (VATP) 
which includes a broad range of offences of differing severity and excludes sexual offences and 
robberies. In the year ending 30 September 2016, Gravesham recorded an increase in VATP from 
2,030 to 2,692 offences – a rise of 32.6% and equating to 25.3 offences per 1,000 population. 

 4.2.2 Numerically, sexual offences are low in our Borough – 204 offences having been recorded in 
Gravesham and although the area saw an increase last year, figures per 1,000 population remain at 
the Kent average (1.9 offences).

4.2.3 Although the rate of robbery at 1.2 offences per 1,000 population in Gravesham is higher than the 
Kent average, robbery offences remain rare and are numerically low.  

Violent crime – Gravesham
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from October 2015-September 2016

Level of crime 3,020 crimes/28.4 offences per 1,000 population.  Comprised of:
2,692 VATP offences/25.3 offences per 1,000 population;
204 Sexual offences/1.9 offences per 1,000 population;
124 Robbery offences/1.2 offences per 1,000 population.

Peer comparison 11th of 13 Kent areas (13th being the highest by rates per 1,000 
population)
12th of 15 CSPs in Most Similar Group for VATP, 6th for sexual 
offences and 13th for robbery offences.

Annual change Increase of 776 violent crimes (34.6% higher than the previous 
year).  
Comprised of: increase of 622 VATP offences (32.6% higher);  
increase of 83 sexual offences (68.6% higher);
increase of 31 robbery offences (33.3% higher).

General trend
Oct 13-Sept 14 Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16

2,278 2,244 3,020
Seasonality

314

Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

212 220 226 226
205 241

238 289 276 281
292

-@

-@

@

@

@

As a proportion of all recorded 
crime Oct 15- Sept 16

Offence Volume % proportion
VATP 2,692 32.4%

Page 36



19 | P a g e

Sexual offences 204 2.4%
Robbery 124 1.5%

Key Council Wards Based on Kent Police recorded data for the period April-September 
2016, the following Gravesham Council Wards recorded the highest 
volumes of violent crime.

Apr-Sept 16
Ward Volume As proportion of all 

VBC in that Ward
Pelham 247 37.9%
Riverside 223 39.8%
Northfleet North 201 50.2%
Central 189 50.7%
Singlewell 129 47.2%

4.3 Domestic Abuse

4.3.1 Domestic abuse has been and remains a local, Countywide and national priority.  Work to address 
this issue takes place through Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) to deal with the 
most serious of cases; the commissioning of services including the Independent Domestic Violence 
Advisor (IDVA) Service and local refuge provision; and a close working relationship between 
frontline service providers through the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum.

4.3.2 Domestic abuse accounts for a considerable proportion of violent crime recorded locally as well as 
being a contributory factor in a range of other offences.  Whilst the volume of incidents recorded 
has continued to increase this may in part be a reflection of increased confidence in victims to 
come forward and seek advice and assistance and will also have been affected by changes in 
recording practices.

4.3.3 Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC)
MARACs are meetings during which information about high-risk domestic abuse victims aged 16 
and over (at risk of murder or serious harm) is shared between local agencies to enable a fully 
coordinated safety plan to be put in place for the victim.   The vast majority of cases (approximately 
two thirds) are referred to MARAC by Kent Police but cases are also brought forward directly by the 
IDVA Service, the Primary Care Trust, local housing providers and drug and alcohol treatment 
services.  In the 12 months ending 30 September 2016, Gravesham recorded a fall from 164 to 141 
cases – a drop of 14.0%.  This is in contrast to the Kent-wide increase in MARAC cases of 6.7% from 
2,196 to 2,344 cases during the same period.

MARAC Caseload – Gravesham and Kent (including Medway)

Gravesham Kent
MARAC Measure Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16
Total no. of cases 164 141 2,196 2,344
No. of repeat cases 46 37 579 741
Repeat cases % 28% 26% 26.4% 31.6%
No. of children in 
households 188 161 2,866 3,081
No. of BME cases 40 0 240 197
No. of LGBT cases 0 0 14 16
No. of cases with 

Page 37



20 | P a g e

registered disabilities 3 0 50 58
No. of male victims 8 0 65 57
Victims under 18 1 0 33 34
Perpetrators under 18 0 0 17 15

The proportion of repeat cases in Gravesham has fallen from 28% to 26% - a continuing decline 
from a significantly higher level of 37% recorded at the end of September 2014 – and the present 
level being below the Kent average.  Last year the proportion of BME cases in Gravesham was 
higher than would be expected taking the overall BME population of our Borough into account i.e. 
the number of BME cases was disproportionately high.  However, this year’s figure provides a 
striking contrast - none of the Gravesham cases involved victims from a BME background compared 
to almost a quarter of the cases (24.3%) last year.  This seems particularly unusual given the 
diversity of the population in Gravesham and it is recommended that this decrease be analysed 
further to understand what may have contributed to it. 

4.3.4 Kent Police recorded domestic abuse crimes
4.3.4.1 In September 2016, recorded data relating to domestic abuse published by Kent Police and made 

available to CSUs changed.  Data is no longer routinely provided in respect of the number of 
domestic abuse incidents but only for domestic abuse crimes.  Information concerning the 
percentage of repeat victims of domestic abuse is also no longer included in the datasets provided 
at a local level.  Retrospective figures have been published for domestic abuse crimes from April 
2015, therefore, it has been possible to extract the full year’s figures for the purposes of this 
Assessment.  

4.3.4.2 The table below demonstrates that domestic abuse crimes account for a significant proportion of 
total crime recorded.  In Gravesham, they accounted for 16.3% of total crime (amongst the highest 
proportions recorded).  Considering the rate of offences per 1,000 population, Gravesham recorded 
a rate higher than the Kent average and in fact, Gravesham’s rate of 12.7 offences per 1,000 
population was the next highest in the County after Thanet and Medway.

Police recorded domestic abuse crimes
1 October 2015-30 September 2016

Area Volume
Oct 15-Sept 16

% proportion 
of all crime

Per 1,000
population

Ashford 959 13.4% 7.7
Canterbury 1,416 13.7% 8.8
Dartford 1,155 12.8% 11.1
Dover 1,116 15.9% 9.8
Gravesham 1,355 16.3% 12.7
Maidstone 1,480 14.5% 8.9
Medway 3,530 16.4% 12.8
Sevenoaks 786 12.8% 6.6
Shepway 1,101 15.2% 10.0
Swale 1,754 16.4% 12.3
Thanet 2,113 16.4% 15.1
Tonbridge and Malling 1,003 15.9% 8.0
Tunbridge Wells 793 15.0% 6.8
Kent 18,561 15.2% 10.3

Page 38



21 | P a g e

4.3.5 One-Stop Shop Services

4.3.5.1 Domestic Abuse One-Stop Shops offer free advice, information and support from a range of 
agencies and professionals in one venue to help support victims and their families.  Typically, One- 
Stop Shops are open for several hours, once a week and anyone affected by domestic abuse in 
need of advice is able to visit without the need to make an appointment.  Figures on the use of the 
One-Stop Shops in our CSP area are provided to the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum at its’ bi-
monthly meetings.  

Figures used for this Assessment relate to April-August 2016 compared to the same period the 
previous year. Whilst the actual figures remain quite small, the number of visitors to Gravesham’s 
One-Stop Shop Service increased by almost a third at 32.0% from 50 to 66 visitors.  Virtually all 
those accessing the Services have been female (only one male visitor was seen) and whilst age is 
not always recorded, the largest proportion of visitors whose age was provided were in the 26-39 
year age range. 

One-Stop Shop Services 1 April-31 August 2016

Gravesham
Apr-Aug 15 Apr-Aug 16

Total visitors 50 66 (+32.0%)

1 April-31 August 2016 Gravesham

Gender of visitors
Female - 65 (98.5%)

Male – 1 (1.5%)
Ethnicity of visitors
White:

White British
White European
Other White

Black/Black British:
Caribbean
African
Other Black

Asian/Asian British:
Indian
Other Asian

Mixed:
White and Caribbean
White and Black African

Other Ethnic Group
Latin American
Unknown

45 (68.2%)
3 (4.5%)
4 (6.1%)

2 (3.0%)
2 (3.0%)
1 (1.5%)

2 (3.0%)
1 (1.5%)

1 (1.5%)
4 (6.1%)

0 (0.0%)
1 (1.5%)

 4.3.5.2 Perhaps not surprising given the age range of the largest proportion of visitors, 48 of Gravesham’s 
visitors had children and 4 women across our joint CSP area were pregnant.  In total, Gravesham’s 
visitors had 104 children between them.  The greatest proportion of the children were aged 5-11 
years (50 children) but there were also a significant number of pre-school age children (40 children) 
aged 0-4 years. If the children in these households are included together with their parent visiting 
the One-Stop Shop Services, a total of 170 victims were assisted.

Page 39



22 | P a g e

4.3.5.3 Most often visitors reside in the same Local Authority area as the One-Stop Shop they visit.  
However, in Gravesham, 13 visitors (19.7% of the total) came from outside the Borough.  These 
visitors were all from other Kent areas, with 4 being from Medway.  The most common reason cited 
was that this was the nearest available service of its kind and logistically easier to reach.

4.3.5.4 In terms of the types of service that victims wished to access, only 5 of the visitors to Gravesham’s 
service were specifically seeking advice in respect of housing which is generally a much more 
commonly cited reason for visiting e.g. in neighbouring Dartford 57 visitors to their Service stated 
this was the main reason for attending.  A considerable number of visitors wanted to speak to a DA 
Specialist Agency (40 visitors) and additionally, quite a high number (41 visitors) wanted to speak to 
a solicitor/legal specialist. 

 
4.3.5.5 In terms of outcomes and how useful visitors found their experience of accessing the Service, 60 of 

Gravesham’s 66 visitors (90.9%) found it so.  (NB. In some cases the view of the victim was not 
recorded – 5 instances in Gravesham).  Visitors were also asked to provide information regarding 
how they had heard about the Service and the vast majority had been referred by an agency 
(almost two-thirds).

4.4 Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Service (IDVA)

4.4.1 Co-commissioned dedicated IDVA services have continued to be delivered in North Kent through 
Choices (formerly North Kent Women’s Aid) who have provided refuge accommodation for victims 
from Gravesham for many years.  In addition, they run a helpline, provide outreach services and co-
ordinate and facilitate the Freedom Programme.  Choices also deliver healthy relationships sessions 
to schools and youth groups as well as work commissioned by Kent County Council to address the 
impact of domestic abuse on children and young people.

4.4.2 Information on the number of clients and impact of IDVA services has been provided for this 
Assessment for the period April-September 2016 and therefore, comparisons have been made with 
the same period last year.  In Gravesham, the service is achieving positive results and increases 
have been seen in the number of referrals being handled.  There were 101 new referrals between 1 
April-30 September 2016 compared to 86 new referrals in the same period in the previous year – 
an increase of 17.4%.  

4.4.3 The number of children on these referrals has fallen slightly in the Gravesham caseload from 116 to 
109 children (-6.0%). 

4.4.4 Engagement rates seem to have fallen for clients – ‘engaged’ being when a client has agreed to or 
been recommended a Safety Plan.  The SAFELIVES Insight Benchmark is 80% but Gravesham’s rate 
was 71% this year whereas last year the rate achieved was in excess of the SAFELIVES target.  
Information provided for this Assessment did not give an indication of what may be responsible for 
this change and it is suggested this be investigated further.  However, it is still encouraging that in 
terms of reducing risk levels for clients and the benchmark of 70% of clients seeing a significant or 
moderate reduction in risk, the rate achieved in Gravesham was 87%. 

Gravesham IDVA Service – Key Information April-September 2016
Overall KDAC Caseload
(MARAC and Non-MARAC)

Apr-Sept
2015

Apr-Sept
2016 % change

New referrals 86 101 17.4%
Number of children on referrals 116 109 -6.0%
Unable to contact/criteria not met (based on 
closed clients) 3 17
Total Clients 83 84

Page 40



23 | P a g e

No. of contacted clients closed with outcomes 38 48
No. and % of closed clients engaged
(SAFELIVES Insight Benchmark = 80%) 89.5% 71%
% of clients contacted within:

- 24 hours
- 48 hours
- >48 hours

100%
0%
0%

100%
0%
0%

Current caseload as at Sept 15 and Sept 16 95 206

4.4.5 Support provided also helps clients with personal matters such as increasing self-confidence and/or 
self-esteem.  At case closure stage, both MARAC and Non-MARAC clients may complete self-
reporting assessments on the impact of the service on their well-being.  

The following figures for the period April-September 2016 have been provided for this Assessment 
to demonstrate impact at case closure stage and relate to 48 clients in Gravesham.

Outcomes at a glance for clients closed – Gravesham

Outcome area
Outcome SafeLives

Benchmark

KDAC 
Actual
Qtr 2 
16-17

No. of 
clients

KDAC
 Actual 

progressive 
% A-S 2016

No. of 
clients

Client numbers Engagement: percentage of 
closed cases where client 
engaged with service 80% 68% 22 71% 48
Cessation of abuse: abuse 
ceased 63% 54% 13 52% 23
Risk levels: clients experienced 
a significant or moderate 
reduction in risk 74% 77% 13 87% 23
Client felt unsafe at intake: 
client feels much safer or 
somewhat safer 70% 100% 8 100% 15
Children’s well-being: client 
feels service has had a very 
positive or positive impact 45% 83% 6 89% 9

Increasing client 
safety

Relationship with children: 
client relationship with children 
has improved 45% 100% 3 100% 4
Emotional well-being: client 
feels service has had a very 
positive or positive impact 45% 100% 6 100% 12

Improved health 
and well-being

Frightened at intake: service 
has had a very positive or 
positive impact on how 
frightened client feels 70% 89% 9 87% 15
Confidence in accessing other 
appropriate services: client 
feels very confident or 
confident 70% 100% 12 100% 16

Increased 
independence

Economic/financial stability: 
client feels service has had a 
very positive or positive impact 70% 100% 4 100% 6

4.5 Hospital Admissions linked to violence

Page 41



24 | P a g e

4.5.1 It should be noted that this section refers to hospital admissions linked to violence and not to 
Accident and Emergency attendances.  Local Authority Ward data refers to patients’ given place of 
residence.

4.5.2 Among Gravesham residents, both the number of admissions linked to violence and the number of 
individuals to whom the admissions relate, have fallen very considerably by 49.3%.  Kent as a whole 
has experienced a much lesser decrease, the average reduction being 15.1%.

Admissions – Linked to Violence – Gravesham residents
1 Sept 2015-31 Aug 2016

No. of admissions 34 admissions (-33 or -49.3% against the previous year)

No. of individuals admitted
34 individuals (33 fewer or -49.3% reduction against the 
previous year) 

Wards with highest no. of admissions Northfleet North (6), Singlewell (6), Pelham (5)
Gender Male: 26 (76.5%); Female (23.5%)
Predominant age range(s) Male: predominantly in 24-44 year age band

Female: predominantly in 0-24 and 25-44 year age bands

4.5.3 Limited information has also been made available for admissions due to assault with a sharp object 
however, numbers are very small indeed and consequently, and details have either been 
suppressed or not published, in line with NHS disclosure and confidentiality guidance. Nonetheless, 
it is still encouraging that there were only 6 admissions of Gravesham residents in this category – 
half the number admitted in the previous year and a greater improvement than that seen on 
average across Kent, the county average reduction being 30.4%. 

4.6 Violence Reduction Nurse Programme (admissions through A & E due to violence)

4.6.1 The Violence Reduction Nurse Programme (VRN) funds nurses or other individuals across the 
country to gather data and share non-confidential information from A & E admissions due to 
violence that may be used by partner agencies to help reduce knife, gun and other forms of violent 
crime.   There are 4 specific pieces of information that are collated:

 Time and date of the incident;
 Time and date of arrival in A & E;
 Location of the incident;
 Primary means of assault (e.g. whether a weapon or hand/fist was used to inflict harm).

4.6.2 Figures provided for the purpose of this Assessment consider records kept of A & E admissions as a 
result of violence at Darenth Valley Hospital between June-October 2016 (NB. no data is available 
for August).  Figures below relate only to those attendances resulting from incidents that actually 
occurred in Gravesham (i.e. attendances resulting from incidents that took place in Greater London 
or other parts of Kent have been removed for the purposes of this Assessment).

VRN Project – A & E attendances and admissions resulting from violence
June-October 2016

Gravesham
Total attendees between June-October 2016 11
No. of cases in which weapons used e.g. bottle, spanner 1
No. of cases in which body used e.g. fists, teeth 10
Assault locations:

Street
In/outside fast food outlet

6
1

Page 42



25 | P a g e

Railway station
In/outside public building e.g. library, school
In/outside licensed premises
Car park
Public park
Retail/business premises
Own home

0
1
0
0
1
0
2

No. of incidents that occurred between 22:00hrs-06:00hrs 5

4.6.3 Whilst the figures provided above appear to be quite small, it is still reassuring that weapons 
appear to be used infrequently with most of the incidents having involved people pushing or 
kicking each other rather than using instruments/objects to cause injury.  The majority of incidents 
also took place in the street and there is a concentration of incidents having occurred in and 
immediately around Gravesend town centre rather than in residential areas.

Key work carried out to address violent crime and domestic abuse – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Continued delivery of the Sanctuary Scheme in conjunction with KF&RS to assist victims of 

domestic abuse in remaining in their own homes by improving security;
 Gravesham Council has continued to provide financial support to help meet the costs of 

commissioned domestic abuse services including the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor 
Service and given a commitment to continue to do so in future;

 Gravesham has continued to offer One-Stop Shop sessions for victims of domestic abuse with 
feedback suggesting the services provided are very helpful;

 Provision of financial support by Gravesham CSU to Choices for the provision of emergency/crisis 
‘kits’ to victims of domestic abuse forced to flee;

 Provision of financial support by Gravesham CSU towards the Independent Sexual Violence Advisor 
post based at Family Matters, Gravesend;

 Targeted work through the Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) initiative to encourage those with 
alcohol dependency issues who then either become involved in violence as perpetrators or are 
vulnerable to violence as victims, into treatment services;

 Use of night-time economy briefings for licensed premises security staff and retailers through G-
Safe Town Centre Crime Reduction Initiatives to share information and deal promptly with 
individuals involved in ASB, often alcohol-related, in the evenings through to the early hours;

 Use of G-Safe Exclusion Orders for individuals identified as being involved in violence, barring them 
from visiting member premises;

 Delivering interventions through Families First to troubled families experiencing domestic abuse;
 Jointly with Dartford, delivery of a Domestic Abuse Awareness Day to over 150 professionals across 

North Kent, providing input from a criminologist, survivor, families of victims and updates on 
developments affecting frontline work.

Page 43



26 | P a g e

5. Acquisitive and Property Crime

5.1 Burglary dwelling

5.1.1 Gravesham has recorded a good reduction in burglary dwelling in the year ending 30 September 
2016 compared to the previous 12 months from 386 to 346 offences – a fall of 10.4%.  Whilst there 
has been a general pattern of a falling number of burglary dwelling offences across Kent in the last 
year, the improvement locally is better than the average reduction countywide of 7.6%. 

5.1.2 Gravesham’s rate of burglary dwelling offences per 1,000 households is still higher than the Kent 
average of 8.6 offences but is moving closer to it.   Although our rate was the second highest rate in 
the County, figures should also be kept in perspective – last year the number of domestic burglaries 
recorded is equivalent to approximately 6 burglaries per week across the entire Borough with over 
40,000 households.   

5.1.3 Dartford and Gravesham CSP ranked in 6th position within our MSG with respect to burglary 
dwelling offences in the year ending 30 September 2016 - an improvement from 7th position in the 
previous year and again, a demonstration that the level of domestic burglary locally is low.

5.1.4 Council Wards in which burglary dwelling offences were most common in Gravesham between 1 
April-30 September 2016 were: Riverside (30 offences), Pelham (22 offences), Central and 
Singlewell (21 offences each) and Northfleet South (14 offences).

5.2 Burglary other than dwelling (BOTD)

5.2.1 BOTD offences include breaks into garden sheds, garages and other outbuildings.  In the year 
ending 30 September 2016, Gravesham saw a considerable improvement with a 28.0% decrease 
from 642 to 462 offences.  Most areas across Kent saw a decrease in this crime category but the 
average reduction of 4.5% across the County was very significantly less than that achieved locally.

5.2.2 Figures translate to a rate of 4.3 BOTD offences per 1,000 population in Gravesham.  Despite 
remaining higher than the County average of 3.5 offences, this is a huge improvement from the 6.1 
rate of offences recorded in Gravesham last year.  

5.2.3 There has also been a positive move in our MSG ranking in terms of BOTD offences.  Last year our 
CSP ranked 15th (the highest level of BOTD offences per 1,000 population).  In the year ending 30 
September 2016, our position improved and the CSP was in 10th position.

5.2.4 Council Wards in which BOTD offences were most prevalent in Gravesham were: Riverside (27 
offences), Central and Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown (19 offences each), Woodlands (18 
offences) and Northfleet North (16 offences).  

5.3. Vehicle crime

5.3.1 In the year ending 30 September 2016, there was an average increase in vehicle crime across the 
County of 5.8% with all but three areas seeing a rise. Gravesham recorded an increase in vehicle 
crime of 11.6% from 692 to 772 offences taking the rate per 1,000 population to 7.3 offences and 
the second highest rate in the County.

5.3.2 Theft from motor vehicle
The majority of vehicle crime offences are thefts from motor vehicles and Gravesham recorded an 
increase of 14.9% in the 12 months ending 30 September 2016 compared to the previous year from 
471 to 541 offences.  The County as a whole saw a smaller average increase of 6.0%.  Rates per 

Page 44



27 | P a g e

1,000 population were the third highest in Kent at 5.1 offences and compared to an average 
Countywide rate for thefts from motor vehicles of 3.7 offences.

5.3.3 Theft of motor vehicle
 Gravesham also recorded a small increase in theft of motor vehicle offences last year – a rise of 4.5% 
from 221 to 231 offences.  However, this increase was slightly lower than the Kent-wide average 
rise of 5.2%.  Whilst the rate of theft of motor vehicles per 1,000 population is in itself low locally, it 
is still the second highest rate at 2.2 offences when compared to a Kent average rate of 1.4 
offences.

5.3.4 In terms of our CSP ranking, in the year ending 30 September 2016, the CSP was in 9th position in 
respect of theft from motor vehicle offences (falling from 8th position the previous year) whilst its’ 
ranking in 12th position for theft of motor vehicle offences remained unchanged.

5.3.5 In Gravesham, in the period 1 April-30 September 2016, there was a particular concentration of 
theft from motor vehicle offences in Riverside Ward (47 offences) whilst Northfleet North Ward 
experienced a higher level of theft of motor vehicle offences.

Gravesham – Council Wards with highest levels of TFMV and TOMV offences
1 April-30 September 2016
Theft from motor 
vehicle Volume Theft of motor vehicle Volume
Riverside 47 Northfleet North 21
Singlewell 30 Central 14
Pelham 30 Riverside 14
Central 29 Pelham 12
Northfleet South 23 Woodlands 11

5.4 Theft and Handling Stolen Goods

5.4.1 The crime category ‘theft and handling stolen goods’ is comprised of offences of shoplifting, thefts 
of pedal cycles and other thefts.  It should be noted that North Kent has particular characteristics 
that have a considerable bearing on this type of criminal activity that are not present in many other 
parts of the County: local rail and road transport links to the capital (both Central London and the 
south/south-eastern London Boroughs) mean that we are geographically placed to be more 
attractive and accessible to cross-border criminal networks and the presence of the Bluewater 
Shopping Complex creates an anomalous and inflated level of shoplifting offences in Dartford’s 
recorded crime figures (affecting our CSP’s ranking within the MSG).

5.4.2 In the 12 months ending 30 September 2016, there were 1,599 offences of theft and handling 
stolen goods offences in Gravesham compared to 1,588 offences the previous year – a very small 
increase of 1.2% compared to a Kent-wide average decrease of 0.4%.  In spite of the small increase 
locally, our rate of offences per 1,000 population (15.0 offences) remains just below the County 
average of 15.5 offences.  

5.4.3 In Gravesham, as is the case across the County and nationwide, theft and handling stolen goods 
offences account for the largest proportion of total crime after violent crime. In Gravesham, the 
proportion of these offences was almost a fifth (19.2%) of all crime recorded.

5.4.5 Shoplifting
5.4.5.1 Shoplifting offences account for a significant proportion of the total number of theft and handling 

stolen goods offences and in Gravesham there was an increase from 438 to 490 shoplifting offences 
– a rise of 11.9%.  Across the County there was a small average decrease of 1.1% however, there 

Page 45



28 | P a g e

were certainly some significant increases and decreases outside our areas that contributed to this: 
Shepway saw an increase of 199 shoplifting offences (a rise of 41.6%) whilst Maidstone saw a 
reduction of 224 shoplifting offences (a drop of 21.2%).

Theft and handling stolen goods - Gravesham
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from October 2015-September 2016

Level of crime 1,599 T&HSG crimes/15.0 offences per 1,000 population.  Comprised of:
490 shoplifting offences/4.6 offences per 1,000 population;
71 theft of pedal cycle offences/0.7 offences per 1,000 population;
1,038 other theft offences/9.8 offences per 1,000 population.

Peer comparison 7th of 13 Kent areas (13th being the highest by rates per 1,000 
population)
13th of 15 CSPs in Most Similar Group for T&HSG, 13th for shoplifting, 
11th for other thefts.

Annual change Increase of 19 T&HSG offences crimes (1.2% higher than the previous 
year).  
Comprised of: increase of 52 shoplifting offences (11.9% higher);  
increase of 19 thefts of pedal cycles (36.5% higher);
decrease of 52 other theft offences (4.8% lower).

General trend
Oct 13-Sept 14 Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16

1,703 1,580 1,599
Seasonality

As a proportion of all recorded 
crime Oct 15- Sept 16

Offence Volume % proportion
Shoplifting 490 5.9%
Theft – pedal cycle 71 0.8%
Other theft 1038 12.5%

Key Council Wards Based on Kent Police recorded data for the period April-September 
2016, the following Gravesham Council Wards recorded the highest 
volumes of theft and handling stolen goods offences. 

Apr-Sept 16
Ward Volume As proportion of all 

VBC in that Ward
Pelham 240 36.8%
Riverside 84 15.0%
Painters Ash 74 41.1%
Northfleet South 59 18.3%
Northfleet North 51 12.7%

Page 46



29 | P a g e

5.4.5.2 In Gravesham, the rate was 4.6 shoplifting offences per 1,000 population in the year ending 30 
September 2016 - below the Kent-wide average of 6.1 offences.  As mentioned previously the 
Bluewater effect does impact our ranking within our MSG for shoplifting offences (Thurrock is also 
part of the same Group and is presumably affected by the presence of Lakeside Shopping Centre 
but Bluewater has an annual footfall that is 2 million higher and arguably is geographically placed to 
be much more accessible).  In the year ending 30 September 2016, our CSP was in 13th position – a 
drop of 2 places from 11th position the previous year.

5.4.6 Other theft offences
5.4.6.1 Thefts other than shoplifting and theft of pedal cycle offences fall within the category of ‘Other 

Theft’ and are also generally high in volume.  Gravesham recorded 1,038 other theft offences in the 
year ending 30 September 2016 compared to 1,090 offences the previous year, representing a 
reduction of 4.8%.  This decrease compares to a Countywide position that saw virtually no change 
with only 12 offences fewer overall and an average reduction of 0.07%.  

5.4.6.2 Unlike shoplifting offences which, understandably, are heavily concentrated in town centre Wards, 
other theft offences tend to be more widespread. In Gravesham, 496 other theft offences were 
recorded in the first half of this financial year (April-September 2016) and whilst the Wards 
covering the town centre dominate – Pelham (92 offences) and Riverside (70 offences) – other 
Wards have recorded higher than average levels: Painters Ash (46 offences), Northfleet North (43 
offences) and Northfleet South (42 offences).

5.4.6.3 The rates of other theft offences per 1,000 population do not vary greatly across Kent and Medway; 
the County average rate last year was 8.5 offences per 1,000 population and Gravesham’s rate of 
9.8 offences was only slightly higher. 

5.5 Criminal damage

5.5.1 For some time, criminal damage has not been a headline priority for the CSP as despite occasional 
increases, the overall position was one of improvement compared to levels of several years ago.  
However, in the 12 months ending 30 September 2016, virtually all areas across Kent (with the 
exception of Medway where the level of offences has remained almost static), have seen increases 
in this crime category – with several areas (including our own) seeing increases above the Kent 
average. In Gravesham, there were 1,404 offences recorded in the year ending 30 September 2016 
compared to 1,150 offences in the previous 12 months – an increase of 254 offences or 22.1% and 
the second highest increase seen in any Kent District or Medway.  The Kent-wide average increase 
was 8.0%, with the majority of areas seeing increases very close to that figure.

5.5.2 As a proportion of total crime, criminal damage is a high volume crime category – it accounted for 
16.9% of all crime in  the Borough in the latest year and Gravesham’s rate of 13.2 offences is the 
third highest in the County).  This position is also echoed in our CSP MSG ranking: in the year ending 
30 September 2016 our CSP was in 14th position (unchanged from last year) with the second 
highest rate of criminal damage offences within the Group.

5.5.3 Between 1 April-30 September 2016, there were 738 criminal damage offences recorded in 
Gravesham and the Council Wards most commonly experiencing them were: Riverside (130 
offences), Pelham (84 offences) and Northfleet North (81 offences).  In Gravesham, Riverside Ward 
is the single area in which criminal damage has been most prolific (its 130 offences accounted for 
17.6% of all criminal damage recorded in the Borough during the 6 month period).

Page 47



30 | P a g e

Key work carried out to address acquisitive and property crime – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Delivery of seasonal initiatives raising awareness and providing advice to the public on steps to take 

to reduce the risk of burglary, motor vehicle crime and theft e.g. Christmas Safety Shop, Safer 
Summer Campaigns;

 Improving the links between Police, CCTV Operators and G-Safe members particularly in addressing 
retail theft. Radio systems have been upgraded to digital operation and the G-Safe Scheme has 
achieved a Distinction from the Business Crime Partnership Accreditation body for the 
professionalism and efficiency in its’ operation;

 Use of G-Safe Warnings and Exclusion Orders to deter persistent shoplifters from entering member 
premises and ensuring that there is good communication between both our Schemes and with 
other Schemes in the county to tackle cross-border offending;

 Joint work with KCC Wardens and Trading Standards to engage with residents in areas where issues 
such as bogus callers and distraction burglary are more prevalent and delivery of awareness-raising 
sessions with elderly residents in sheltered housing schemes to safeguard against financial scams;

 Through input into the Integrated Offender Management process, work with prolific offenders (for 
whom acquisitive crimes such as shoplifting and burglary are frequently the crime of choice);

 Making full use of both permanent and rapid deployment cameras in areas where acquisitive crime 
is most prevalent;

 Use of public events e.g. Tenants’ Conferences, Over 50’s events, as an opportunity to disseminate 
information and advice regarding home and property security;

 The Bluewater Business Against Crime has retained very close links with G-Safe and has been 
incorporated into information-sharing mechanisms that exist between Bluewater and other town 
centre schemes.  Kent Police opened the Safer Home Interactive Crime Prevention Display this year 
in Bluewater and the facility is used by the North Kent Crime Prevention Panel to provide advice, 
sell prevention-related items and carry out initiatives such as property marking;

 Gravesham CSU have been actively involved in supporting local businesses and residents during the 
year in key areas such as Harmer Street/Clock Tower, Heritage Quay and the Canal Basin, to tackle 
acquisitive crime that included the seizure of a vehicle being used for high-level fuel theft.

Page 48



31 | P a g e

6. Substance Misuse

6.1 Provision of key data

6.1.1 In addition to Kent Police recorded data relating to drug offences, this Assessment includes 
information made available via Kent Public Health in respect of commissioned Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Services in our area to enable a better understanding of the types of substance misuse 
experienced by clients and some of their circumstances.  Further information has also been 
obtained from the Public Health Observatory to demonstrate the numbers of people in our 
Boroughs having recourse to health services due to substance misuse-related problems.

6.2 Kent Police recorded drug offences

6.2.1 ‘Drug offences’ includes both offences of drug supply and of drug possession and it is worth noting 
that drug offences are generally recorded by Police as a result of a proactive or intelligence-led 
operation, rather than the reporting of offences by members of the public.  In the year ending 30 
September 2016, the level of drug offences in Gravesham has remained almost the same as in the 
previous 12 months: 130 offences were recorded in the  year ending 30 September 2016 compared 
to 132 offences last year – a small decrease of 1.5%.  The Kent-wide picture is of an average 
increase of 1.3% although this average is reached with some areas seeing very significant decreases 
(for example, Dover with a reduction of 37.0%) and other areas recording considerably greater 
increases (such as Maidstone with an increase of 25.4%).

6.2.2 As the number of offences are small, corresponding rates per 1,000 population are similarly low: in 
Gravesham it is a rate of 1.2 offences compared to a County average of 1.6 offences with the 
October and November months being when most offences have been recorded (although this may 
be linked to proactive policing operations at that time). 

Gravesham – Seasonality of recorded drug offences

4

Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Apr 16 May 16 Jun 16 Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16
0

5

10

15

20

15 14 11 9 12 13 8 13 12 10 9

-@

-@

@

@

@

6.2.3 Our CSP’s position within our MSG also reflects that recorded drug offences have remained low.  
Our CSP ranked in 3rd position in the year ending 30 September 2016 and although this is one step 
down from last year, the rate of offending still remains well below the average within our Group.

6.3 Drug and Alcohol Treatment

6.3.1 In Dartford and Gravesham, the drug and alcohol treatment provider commissioned by KCC Public 
Health is Change, Grow, Live (CGL) (formerly the service was delivered by Crime Reduction 
Initiatives (CRI)).  Information has been provided for this Assessment in respect of the number of 
clients receiving treatment and their drug and/or alcohol dependencies.  It should be noted that 
clients are 18 years and over accessing adult structured treatment services and clients have only 
been included in this data if they can be allocated to a district residence in Kent.  CGL’s main 

Page 49



32 | P a g e

premises for West Kent are based in Gravesend which may, to some extent, account for the greater 
number of clients accessing the service who are Gravesham residents.

6.3.2 In Gravesham, the number of clients in treatment has fallen slightly (21 clients less or a reduction of 
5.1%) whereas the majority of areas across Kent have seen increases in clients accessing services 
(although at a range of levels) and the average increase in active clients in treatment across KCC 
Districts is 2.5%.

Active clients in drug and/or alcohol treatment
Area Sept 2015 Sept 2016 % change
Ashford 378 446 18.0%
Canterbury 597 600 0.5%
Dartford 195 208 6.7%
Dover 496 497 0.2%
Gravesham 407 386 -5.1%
Maidstone 440 461 4.8%
Sevenoaks 189 181 -4.2%
Shepway 505 572 13.3%
Swale 712 667 -6.3%
Thanet 942 940 -0.2%
Tonbridge and Malling 191 220 15.2%
Tunbridge Wells 275 285 3.6%
KCC 5,327 5,463 2.5%

6.3.3 Of the Gravesham client base, a higher proportion of clients were being treated for opiate misuse 
than for alcohol misuse (155 of the total 386 clients or approximately 40%) whereas a smaller 
proportion (27.7% or 107 clients) were being treated for alcohol only dependency – a change from 
2014-15 when the number of clients being treated for alcohol only problems or opiate dependency 
were virtually the same.   Gravesham saw 227 clients exiting treatment during the course of the 
year and at 31 March 2016, planned exits were in place for 112 clients. 

6.3.5 Historically, approximately half of clients are being treated for problems with alcohol only so this 
suggests a shift to an increasing number of clients seeking treatment due to problematic opiate use.

Gravesham – Clients in Treatment
Detail 2014-15 2015-16 % change
No. of clients active during the year 407 386 -5.1%
Substance misuse categories:-
Alcohol only 164 107 -34.7%
Opiates 165 155 -6.1%
Alcohol and non-opiate 53 52 -1.9%
Non-opiate 25 32 28.0%
No. of clients exiting during the year 207 227 9.7%
No. of clients with planned exit 107 112 4.7%
% of clients with planned exit 52.0% 49.0% -3.0%

6.4 Hospital Admissions linked to Substance Misuse

It should be noted that data in this section refers to hospital admissions and not to Accident and 
Emergency attendances.  Local Authority Ward references relate to the patients’ place of residence.

Page 50



33 | P a g e

6.4.1 Hospital Admissions – Psychoactive Substance Use
Data presented relates to admissions due to mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive 
substance use including alcohol, opioids, cannabinoids, sedatives, hypnotics, cocaine, hallucinogens, 
volatile substances and other psychoactive substances.

6.4.2 Among Gravesham residents, hospital admissions for mental and behavioural disorders due to 
psychoactive substance use has decreased slightly by 3.0% but not as greatly as the average 7.2% 
reduction seen across KCC.  The pattern of large numbers of admissions for males rather than 
females in respect of this measure is universal across Kent.

Admissions – Psychoactive Substance Use – Gravesham residents
1 Sept 2015-31 Aug 2016

No. of admissions 389 admissions (-12 or -3.0% against the previous year)

No. of individuals admitted
287 individuals (4 more or an increase of 1.4% against the 
previous year)

Wards with highest no. of admissions Pelham (69), Riverside (50), Northfleet North (41)
Gender Predominantly male (over 65%)
Predominant age range(s) Male: both the 25-44 and 45-64 year age bands 

Female: 45-64 year age band
  
6.4.3 Hospital Admissions – Alcohol Involvement

Data presented relates to hospital admissions where patients have shown evidence of alcohol 
involvement by blood alcohol levels or levels of intoxication or the toxic effects of alcohol.  The 
overall number of admissions in Gravesham has fallen by significantly more than in Kent on average 
(by 15.5% compared to 4.0%) although the number of individuals being admitted has only changed 
very slightly (2 people fewer).  Individuals being admitted in Gravesham are predominantly female 
and in the age band of 45-64 years. Additionally, residents being admitted come from a broader 
range of areas and not just from town centre Wards.

Admissions – Alcohol Involvement – Gravesham residents
1 Sept 2015-31 Aug 2016

No. of admissions 49 admissions (-9 or -15.5% against the previous year)

No. of individuals admitted
47 individuals (2 fewer or a decrease of 4.1% against the 
previous year)

Wards with highest no. of admissions Riverside (9), Singlewell (7), Pelham (6) 
Gender Equally split between male and female 
Predominant age range(s) Male: greatest proportion in 22-44 year age band

Female: greatest proportion in 45-64 year age band

6.4.4 Alcohol and Drug Specific Hospital Admissions – Young People 
Overall the number of alcohol specific admissions to hospital for young people aged under 18 years 
is low across Kent.  In 2015-16, there were less than 4 in Gravesham (precise figure unavailable as 
numbers less than 4 are suppressed).  The average per Kent District was 4.9 admissions.  Pooled 
figures are provided between 2011-12 and 2015-16 and during this time there were 24 admissions 
of Gravesham young people aged under 18.  These were predominantly female (16 female 
admissions compared to 4 male admissions).

6.4.5 In respect of drug specific admissions of young people, figures are very low for 2015-16 and 
therefore, suppressed.  Considering pooled figures for the period 2011-12 to 2015-16, there were 
27 admissions in Gravesham (11 male and 16 female).  It does appear that for both alcohol specific 
and drug specific admissions, in Gravesham, a greater number of young women and girls have been 
admitted.

Page 51



34 | P a g e

Key work carried out to address substance misuse – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed premises in Gravesham to ensure 

adherence to licensing conditions and to encourage the responsible sale of alcohol;
 Educational/preventative work to encourage responsible drinking behaviours;
 Delivery of Information and Brief Advice sessions to a wide range of partner agency representatives 

to raise awareness of alcohol consumption and access to services;
 Outreach work with Porchlight and the CityPraise Sanctuary Scheme to increase referrals to the 

MEAM project of individuals who are homeless/sleeping rough and who have drug and/or alcohol 
dependency issues to provide them with appropriate support and advice;

 Use of enforcement powers e.g. Criminal Behaviour Order, to take action against identified 
persistent offenders engaging in ASB where their behavior is alcohol-related;

 Targeted outreach work delivered by KCC Youth Workers and The Gr@nd Project Youth Workers to 
engage with young people in hot spot locations who are/at risk of becoming involved in ASB that is 
alcohol-related and in locations where evidence has been found to suggest that these locations are 
being used for the use of psychoactive substances;

 Provision of taxi marshals at key times of the year in Gravesend to encourage the safe and swift 
dispersal of people away from the town centre late at night, reducing the opportunity for alcohol-
related crime and disorder to occur (particularly on key days and during seasonal festivities);

 Using G-Safe Exclusion Orders for those individuals repeatedly involved alcohol or drug-related 
crime from member premises;

 Test purchasing operations delivered by KCC Trading Standards to help tackle underage drinking;
 Joint working to tackle the sale of counterfeit alcohol and or cigarettes.

Page 52



35 | P a g e

7. Serious and Organised Crime

Serious and Organised Crime Profiles
This section of the Assessment includes information provided by the Kent Police Serious and Organised 
Crime Directorate and addresses key areas of criminal activity which have not historically been included in 
Strategic Assessments.  Inclusion in the Assessment reflects priorities at a national level as well as within 
the Kent Police Control Strategy and the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner’s Policing and Crime Plan.  It 
also reflects the changing role of Local Authorities in working with partner agencies to tackle these issues 
and legal obligations and responsibilities that are now borne by Councils.  Information that is contained 
within our Local Profiles focuses on: 

 Child Sexual Exploitation  Gangs
 Organised Crime Groups  Organised Immigration Crime
 Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery  Serious Sexual Offences and Rape
 Counter Terrorism and Domestic Extremism  Cyber Crime

IMPORTANT: Information contained within the Serious Organised Crime Profiles is ‘Protectively Marked’ 
and cannot be provided in reports that are being made available in the public domain hence is not 
included in this document.  Any enquiries regarding the Profiles should be made directly to Kent Police.

Key work carried out to address Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Commissioned Stop The Traffik to deliver training to approximately 70 frontline staff across partner 

agencies to raise awareness of human slavery and human trafficking and ensure that all are aware of 
reporting mechanisms (Gravesham);

 Supported joint operations involving Kent Police, Councils, Trading Standards and Immigration 
focusing on a number of premises believed to be involved in organised crime resulting in arrests and 
the recovery of counterfeit goods;

 Training delivered on CSE to Council frontline staff, partner agencies and taxi drivers;
 Close working with Porchlight and the CityPraise Sanctuary (homelessness) project resulting in the 

return to country of origin of several vulnerable individuals who had been brought into the country for 
the purpose of exploitation; 

 Combatting the threat of Extremism through the delivery of training to approximately 70 frontline 
staff across partner agencies financed with monies secured from the Home Office;

 Awareness raising session provided to approximately 20 Council Members (Gravesham) on modern 
slavery and human trafficking;

 Establishing of an Anti-Slavery and Trafficking Group (Gravesham) to support the delivery of a Work 
Programme to tackle this issue;

 Use of publicity materials displayed in prominent locations in Council Offices to raise awareness 
amongst the public of modern slavery and trafficking;

 Joint initiative with Medway, Swale and KF&RS to encourage use of services within Council Gateways 
with banners and materials produced in key languages (which might also encourage individuals that 
have been exploited to seek help and advice) funded via monies secured from the PCC’s Office;

 Participation in the Kent and Medway Prevent Delivery Group and in Channel Panels following 
referrals;

 Delivery of training to Council Members on Prevent, Channel and associated risks;
 Delivery of a Prevent Action Plan to ensure that all legal obligations under Counter Terrorism 

legislation have been met.

Page 53



36 | P a g e

8.  Anti-Social Behaviour

8.1 Police recorded incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

8.1.1 In the year ending 30 September 2016, 3,248 incidents of ASB were recorded in Gravesham - a 
reduction of 3.2% compared to the previous year and a greater reduction than that seen across 
most Kent Districts.  However, Gravesham’s rate of 30.5 incidents per 1,000 population is still the 
third highest in the County.  Key Council Wards experiencing significantly higher than average 
problems of ASB are Riverside, Pelham and Central. 

Area
Oct 14-
Sept 15

Oct 15-
Sept 16 % +/-

15-16 rate per 
1,000 pop.

Ashford 1,641 1,755 6.9% 14.1
Canterbury 4,240 3,892 -8.2% 24.3
Dartford 2,592 2,924 12.8% 28.1
Dover 3,690 3,391 -8.1% 29.9
Gravesham 3,355 3,248 -3.2% 30.5
Maidstone 3,608 3,672 1.8% 22.3
Medway 8,998 8,820 -2.0% 31.9
Sevenoaks 1,970 2,025 2.8% 17.1
Shepway 2,940 2,959 0.6% 26.9
Swale 4,059 3,931 -3.1% 27.6
Thanet 5,435 5,378 -1.0% 38.5
Tonbridge and Malling 2,493 2,294 -8.0% 18.2
Tunbridge Wells 2,236 2,253 0.8% 19.4
Kent 47,348 46,637 -1.5% 25.9

8.1.2 ASB is likely to remain a priority for the foreseeable future for all CSPs.  Not only is the volume of 
incidents high but cases coming to the attention of CSUs are frequently complex, often involve 
high-risk vulnerable victims and offenders who have particular characteristics e.g. mental health 
problems, substance misuse issues that influence their behaviour and require interventions from a 
range of agencies before issues can be resolved.  Nonetheless, it is important to recognise the 
considerable improvements that have been achieved in the last 5 years – in the 12 months 
ending 30 September 2011, 4,990 ASB incidents were recorded in Gravesham –compared to this 
year’s figure, this represents a decrease of 34.9%.  

8.2 Deliberate and Accidental Fires – Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KF&RS)

8.2.1 Total fires
Gravesham has seen a small increase of 3.0% in total fires in the year ending 30 September 2016 
from 265 to 273 fires which is in contrast to an average reduction of 2.4% Countywide. 

Total Fires recorded by KF&RS
Area Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 % +/-
Gravesham 265 273 3.0%
KCC Districts 3,659 3,485 -4.7%
Kent 4,291 4,187 -2.4%

8.2.2 In Gravesham, almost a quarter of all fires took place in Riverside Ward.  This Ward has historically 
recorded a considerably higher level of fires than other Wards both locally and across the County.  
In the year ending 30 September 2016, there were 65 fires in total in Riverside Ward (compared to 
59 fires the previous year) and this is the second highest number of fires in any Ward in Kent.  

Page 54



37 | P a g e

Almost half of all the fires in Riverside Ward were rubbish fires and were primarily linked to the 
Denton area.  The vast majority of these fires have been deliberate and linked to anti-social 
behaviour.  Other key Wards in Gravesham are: Northfleet North (25 fires), Shorne, Cobham and 
Luddesdown (24 fires) and Pelham (22 fires).

8.2.3 Deliberate fires
Deliberate fires have also increased in Gravesham, with an additional 12 fires or a rise of 9.1% in 
the latest year considered compared to an average increase across the County of 4.1%.

Deliberate Fires recorded by KF&RS
Area Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 % +/-
Gravesham 132 144 9.1%
KCC Districts 1,431 1,470 2.7%
Kent 1,778 1,851 4.1%

8.2.4 In Gravesham, the most deliberate fires were seen in Riverside (51 fires) – 35.4% of all deliberate 
fires seen in the Borough.  Northfleet North recorded 16 deliberate fires and Westcourt, 13 fires.  
Singlewell Ward, which had recorded 15 deliberate fires last year, has seen a significant 
improvement with the figure falling to 6 fires in the current year.

8.2.5 Accidental fires
There has been an average reduction in accidental fires across the County of 7.0% and Gravesham 
has also seen a small decrease of 3.0%, with a total number of 129 accidental fires this year.

Accidental Fires recorded by KF&RS
Area Oct 14-Sept 15 Oct 15-Sept 16 % +/-
Gravesham 133 129 -3.0%
KCC Districts 2,228 2,015 -9.6%
Kent 2,513 2,336 -7.0%

8.2.6 In Gravesham, Council Wards in which the highest number of accidental fires were recorded were: 
Pelham (17 fires), Riverside (14 fires), Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown (13 fires) and Central (12 
fires).  

8.3 Noise Nuisance

8.3.1 Gravesham’s Environmental Services monitor the number of noise complaints in the Borough.  
Monitored data is sent (together with other information) to the Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health annually.  This data is then provided to Central Government in order that 
trends can be highlighted, gaps in service provision identified, the success of policy initiatives at 
national and local level measured and funding and other resources justified.   When considering 
the figures below, it should be noted that as numbers are very small in some categories, 
percentage increases and/or decreases may appear rather inflated and should not be used to 
represent a position without having reference to actual number changes.

8.3.2 Gravesham’s level of complaints has remained almost unchanged from 468 to 474 complaints in 
total – a small rise of 1.3%.  Issues with loud music being played are the most commonly reported 
problem: 147 complaints in the current year accounting for almost a third of all complaints 
recorded.  Barking dogs and people were the second and third most common complaints (70 
complaints of the total for the former and 69 complaints for the latter – each accounting for 
approximately 15% of all complaints recorded).

Page 55



38 | P a g e

Noise nuisance complaints by category
Year ending 30 September 2016 and the previous year

Gravesham
Noise category O 14-S 15 O 15- S 16 % +/-
Alarm – intermittent 9 6 -33.3%
Alarm 12 12 0.0%
Barking dog 84 70 -16.6%
Bells 1 1 0.0%
Boats 0 1 *
DIY 13 7 -46.1%
Fireworks 3 3 0.0%
Loud music 155 147 -5.2%
Low frequency noise 0 1 *
Machinery 22 28 27.3%
Other 54 60 11.1%
Other animals 3 7 133.3%
Party 22 32 45.4%
People 66 69 4.5%
Plant (construction) 9 10 11.1%
PA systems 2 0 -100.0%
Shooting 2 0 -100.0%
Street noise 1 6 500.0%
TV/Radio 2 6 200.0%
Unspecified 0 0 0.0%
Vehicle alarms 4 6 50.0%
Vehicle repairs 4 2 -50.0%
Total 468 474 1.3%

8.3.3 Monthly breakdowns of noise nuisance complaints suggest that there are particular times of the 
year when disturbance caused by noise is more prevalent.  Clearly, this kind of complaint may be 
affected by the weather – in warmer months windows are often left open allowing noise to carry 
more freely and there tends to be more outdoor socialising.  In Gravesham, the peak month for 
complaints was July (69 complaints), with levels also being higher in May, June and August.  Loud 
music was the most common reason for the complaints.  However, in Gravesham noise disturbance 
linked to people were as common in January and February as they were in August.

8.4 Road Safety
8.4.1 Whilst road safety is not a headline priority for our CSP, there is a local commitment to continue to 

support activity to help reduce the risk of harm to drivers, other road users and pedestrians.  It is 
acknowledged that whilst issues relating to road safety may not necessarily involve criminal 
behaviour or ASB, they may still impact on personal safety and raising awareness through 
partnership preventative and educational work can have a positive impact.  Both the Council and 
Kent Police also spend a considerable amount of time dealing with complaints concerning 
irresponsible parking (particularly in and around school premises) whilst concerns about speeding 
vehicles is a frequent complaint raised by Parish Councils in rural areas. 

8.4.2 Road safety is also an issue that cannot be underplayed due to our geography and physical 
environment.   Gravesham has one of the smallest land areas of Kent Districts but the number of 
people per km2 is high and throughout our Borough there are major trunk roads that facilitate 
traffic throughout the County and to the capital.  Large-scale regeneration and development 
projects such as Ebbsfleet Garden City and Paramount will both mean an increasing number of 

Page 56



39 | P a g e

vehicles in the area both during construction and following completion and projected increases in 
population will inevitably mean more vehicles and pedestrians on our roads across North Kent.

8.4.3 Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) – All Casualties
Casualties resulting from road traffic collisions (RTCs) reduced by an average of 8.0% across Kent in 
the 12 months ending December 2015 compared to the previous 12 months.  Gravesham has also 
seen an albeit smaller reduction of 5.4% from 371 to 351 collisions.  The rate of collisions per 1,000 
population in Gravesham was amongst the lowest in the KCC area at 3.3 collisions.

Road Traffic Collisions – All Casualties
Area Jan-Dec 2014 Jan-Dec 2015 % change Per 1,000 pop.
Ashford 490 499 1.8% 4.0
Canterbury 534 510 -4.5% 3.2
Dartford 654 566 -13.4% 5.4
Dover 362 329 -9.1% 2.9
Gravesham 371 351 -5.4% 3.3
Maidstone 756 635 -16.0% 3.9
Sevenoaks 546 523 -4.2% 4.4
Shepway 404 381 -5.7% 3.5
Swale 579 540 -6.7% 3.8
Thanet 557 557 No change 4.0
Tonbridge and Malling 546 474 -13.2% 3.8
Tunbridge Wells 482 423 -12.2% 3.6
Total 6,303 5,801 -8.0% 3.8

8.4.4 Road Traffic Collisions with casualties under 16 years old
In the year ending 31 December 2015, there were 34 RTC casualties involved in collisions in 
Gravesham who were under 16 years of age – 3 such casualties more than in the previous year and 
an increase of 9.7%.  Gravesham’s position was in contrast to the KCC-wide experience of an 
average reduction of 18.6%.

8.4.5 Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) with ‘Killed or Seriously Injured’ (KSI) Casualties
RTCs with Killed or Seriously Injured casualties (KSIs) increased by 27.3% in Gravesham in the year 
ending 31 December 2015 from 33 to 42 casualties – the second greatest increase in a Kent District. 
This increase is in contrast to an average reduction of 3.9% seen across the KCC area – most 
Districts recorded reductions and generally areas that saw increases reported much smaller rises 
than that seen in Gravesham.  However, despite the percentage increase seen locally, numerically 
Gravesham’s level of these collisions was below the District average.

Road Traffic Collisions with Killed or Seriously Injured Casualties
District Comparison – January-December 2015

60 57 45 37 42 50
74

45 52 66 50 54

Ash
ford

Can
terbury

Dart
ford

Dove
r

Grav
esh

am

Maid
sto

ne

Se
ve

noak
s

Sh
epway

Sw
ale

Than
et

Tonbrid
ge

 an
d 

Mall
ing
Tunbrid

ge
 

Wells

0
20
40
60
80

53

2015 KSIs District Average

District

KS
I C

as
ua

lti
es

Page 57



40 | P a g e

8.4.6 Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) with KSI Casualties under  16 years old
The number of RTCs involving KSI casualties under 16 years old is very small at District level: there 
was just 1 such casualty in Gravesham in 2015 compared to 3 in the previous year.  Overall there 
has been a reduction of 29.5% across the KCC Districts from 61 to 43 KSI casualties concerning 
under 16s.

Key work carried out to address Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Coordination of interventions and activity to work with individuals engaging in ASB through local multi-

agency ASB Groups and also through CSU Briefing meetings;
 Effective use of enforcement tools and successful action taken against those persistently involved in 

ASB e.g. Acceptable Behaviour Agreements (ABAs) and the use of Public Space Protection Orders; 
 Effective use of rapid deployment cameras in to deter ASB, provide reassurance to local 

neighbourhoods and capture evidence of ASB or criminal behaviour;
 Delivering extensive programmes of work with KSS CRC Community Payback Teams to tackle some of 

the consequences of ASB such as fly-tipping, littering and environmental damage;
 Working with local communities to encourage volunteering to help ‘clean-up’ certain locations that 

have been subjected to ASB, promote local ownership and pride in neighbourhoods;
 Creation of a specific programme of work to address crime and ASB occurring in and around the Clock 

Tower area and Heritage Quay (Gravesend) with regular feedback to the community through quarterly 
public meetings;

 Using assessments to ensure that repeat victims of ASB who are considered to be ‘high risk’ are given 
the best assistance possible from all partner agencies who can provide support;

 Provision of keyhole cameras to victims of persistent ASB assessed as being high risk;
 Site visits/environmental audits carried out by Housing staff to identify any ASB-related environmental 

damage/issues in order that they can be addressed swiftly and avoid problems escalating;
 Enforcement officers providing advice or issuing Fixed Penalty Notices in respect of breaches of 

Community Protection Notices (CPNs), Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs), littering and dog 
fouling as appropriate;

 Targeted youth outreach work in key locations in which ASB involving young people is more prevalent;
 Development of a youth restorative justice programme led by G-Safe and KCC Community Wardens to 

provide effective resolutions for young people just becoming involved in ASB and their victims;
 Enforcement of tenancy conditions for Council tenants found to be persistently involved in ASB;
 Raising awareness of the dangers of fire raising and delivering fire safety messages at key public events 

e.g. by having a presence in the Community Safety Shop as part of seasonal activity;
 Provision of funding for the delivery of Licence to Kill (Road Safety) to young people aged 16-18 years 

(Years 12 and 13) to encourage responsible driving behaviour;
 Provision of funding to support activities aimed at changing the behaviour of young people involved in 

ASB or at risk of becoming so e.g. Climbing Fit Programme delivered by KF&RS and the Police Joint 
Family Management Programme Coordinator with financial support from CSUs;

 Delivering interventions through work with Early Help Teams and Turnaround/Families First to those 
families with adults and/or children involved in ASB.

Page 58



41 | P a g e

9.  Reducing Offending and Reoffending

9.1 Overview

9.1.1 Ultimately, the use of enforcement action against or supportive interventions with, identified 
offenders, has one objective: to prevent the individual from becoming involved in committing crime 
or to address factors influencing their behaviour to break the risk or cycle of their reoffending.  
Whilst repeat offenders are numerically small, they are often responsible for a disproportionate 
number of crimes committed and will often have a very negative impact within local communities.

9.1.2 Since 2014, probation services have been provided by Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community 
Rehabilitation Company (KSS CRC) and the National Probation Service (NPS).  Broadly, the CRC 
delivers a range of rehabilitative services to offenders sentenced to under 12 months’ 
imprisonment, who are low to medium risk and who have been sentenced by a court either to 
custody or to community supervision. Rehabilitation services include bespoke individual and group 
based work that addresses needs linked to offending behaviour and by delivering Unpaid Work 
(Community Payback).  For those people in custody or released on licence the CRC helps them to 
prepare for resettlement and manage post release licences and supervision periods.  The NPS work 
with and monitor those offenders deemed to be a higher risk and who receive a sentence greater 
than 12 months.

9.2 CRC Caseload Overview

9.2.1 The caseload includes Community Orders, Suspended Sentence Orders, Post-Release Licences and 
Post-Sentence Supervision.  Figures as at October 2015 indicated there were 184 service users in 
the Gravesham caseload.  During the last 12 months this has increased to 226 service users – a rise 
of 22.8%.

Caseload Overview – Kent (as at September 2016)
Area Community

Order
Suspended
Sentence

Post Release
Licence Total

Ashford 71 46 45 162
Canterbury 104 62 85 251
Dartford 85 51 43 179
Dover 61 52 67 180
Gravesham 110 64 52 226
Maidstone 134 72 92 298
Medway 345 162 156 663
Sevenoaks 69 33 44 146
Shepway 67 48 46 161
Swale 135 83 96 314
Thanet 161 100 100 361
Tonbridge and Malling 82 35 49 166
Tunbridge Wells 75 36 54 165
No Fixed Abode 49 96 25 170
Missing/Unknown postcode 37 27 29 93
Kent 1,585 967 983 3,565
NB. Rows highlighted in grey (NFA and Missing/Unknown postcode) cannot be allocated to a local 
area and represent the following proportions: Missing/Unknown (2.6%); NFA (4.8%).

9.2.2 The vast majority of service users in Gravesham are male: 90.3% of the total.  In respect of age, the 
majority of service users fall within the 30-39 year age ban

Page 59



42 | P a g e

CRC Caseload by Age
GraveshamAge band

At Oct 15 At Sept 16 % +/-
18-20 9 18 100.0%
21-24 16 23 43.8%
25-29 44 47 6.8%
30-39 57 83 45.6%
40-49 38 34 -10.5%
50-59 15 16 6.7%
60+ 5 5 0.0%
Total 184 226 22.8%

9.2.3 In Gravesham, 163 service users (71.1%) described themselves as White and 49 as BME (21.7%), 
whilst ethnicity details were refused or not recorded in 14 cases.  The number of BME service users 
has increased quite significantly from 30 to 49 service users (an increase of 63%).

9.2.4 Details are recorded of the offences that have been committed by the caseloads.  In Gravesham, 
the most common offence amongst service users was recorded as violent crime: 73 clients in or 
32.3% of the total. The second most commonly committed offence by service users was drink 
driving: 25 service users or 11.1% of all service users and the third most common offence was fraud 
and forgery:  22 service users or 9.7%.

9.3 Proven adult reoffending rates

9.3.1 The data below provides reoffending figures for adult offenders who were released from custody, 
received a non-custodial conviction at court, caution, reprimand or warning during a 12 month 
period.  A proven reoffence is defined as any offence committed in a one year follow-up period that 
leads to a court conviction, caution, reprimand or warning in the one year follow up or within a 
further six month waiting period to allow the offence to be proven in court.  Figures are provided 
by the Ministry of Justice and it should be noted that reoffending data related to KSS CRC is 
currently unavailable (following the restructuring of Kent Probation), with the first publication due 
to be made in October 2017.

Proven adult reoffending – Gravesham
Category Oct 12-Sept 13 Oct 13-Sept 14
Proportion of service users who reoffend (%) 23.8% 18.9%
Average reoffences per service user (no.) 2.91 2.94
Number of reoffences 731 527
Number of reoffenders 251 179
Number of service users in cohort 1,056 948
Average  previous offences per service user 8.15 8.87

9.3.2 Across the County, an average of 20.4% of service users reoffended during the last period October 
2013-September 2014.  Therefore, in respect of service users in Gravesham, the proportion who 
reoffend is less than the Kent average.  The average rate of reoffences is broadly similar to the Kent 
average: 2.94 reoffences per service user in Gravesham compared to a Kent average of 3.13 
reoffences.  However, the average number of offences previously being committed by local service 
users is lower than the County average: 8.87 offences per service user in Gravesham respectively 
compared to 10.63 offences on average per Kent service user.

Page 60



43 | P a g e

9.4 Kent and Medway Integrated Offender Management (IOM)

9.4.1 IOM is a multi-agency process for identifying those offenders who have or are causing harm to 
communities through their criminal and/or anti-social behaviour.  Multi-agency expertise and 
resources are pooled to try to identify ways of reducing reoffending.  Figures have been provided 
by the Kent and Medway IOM Delivery Group and refer to the IOM cohort as at August 2016 with 
comparisons drawn with the same period the previous year.

IMPORTANT: Information provided by IOM for the purposes of completing local Strategic 
Assessments is ‘Protectively Marked’ and cannot be provided in reports that are being made 
available in the public domain hence is not included in this document.  Any enquiries regarding 
the Profiles should be made directly to Kent Police.

9.5 First time entrants to the Criminal Justice System

9.5.1 A new indicator is now being used for the monitoring of young people entering the criminal justice 
system of: the rate of first time entrants per 100,000 population.  The latest information provided 
for inclusion in the Assessment process related to Quarter 1 April-June 2016 and therefore 
comparisons are made with the same period the previous year.  

Extracted from YJMIS Quarterly Return (KCC) - FTE to the CJS per 100,000 population
Area Qtr 1 14-15 Qtr 1 15-16 % change
Ashford 276 150 -45.6%
Canterbury 274 193 -29.6%
Dartford 240 375 56.2%
Dover 577 183 -68.3%
Gravesham 379 175 -53.8%
Maidstone 311 305 -1.9%
Sevenoaks 243 207 -14.8%
Shepway 479 302 -36.9%
Swale 514 268 -47.8%
Thanet 742 386 -48.0%
Tonbridge and Malling 286 278 -2.8%
Tunbridge Wells 230 123 -46.5%
KCC District total 382 248 -35.1%

9.5.2 Gravesham has historically had a higher than average number of FTEs, so it is very positive to see 
that the number has more than halved – a reduction that is higher than the average decrease of 
35.1% seen across Kent Districts.  No contextual information has been provided to local CSUs with 
this data therefore, it would be beneficial to ascertain what factors may have influenced such a 
change.

Page 61



44 | P a g e

Key work carried out to support reducing reoffending – Oct 2015-Sept 2016
 Joint Dartford and Gravesham Reducing Re-offending Sub-Group fully established and operational, 

led by KSS CRC and focusing on accommodation and education, employment and training issues 
affecting ex-offenders;

 Joint working with training providers and voluntary groups  (e.g. Bluewater Learning Shop, No Walls 
Gardening Project) to extend assistance given to those about to be released in identifying learning, 
training and employment opportunities;

 Improved information sharing between partner agencies through the IOM process in order that 
potential issues that could affect an individual about to be released can be identified early on e.g. 
whether there is likely to be difficulty in securing accommodation or training/ employment is 
available;

 Through the Reducing Re-offending Sub-Group, practical information e.g. regarding services 
available locally (including information regarding food banks) has been shared in order that those 
working directly with ex-offenders can communicate the information to them;

 Delivered programmes of work with Community Payback, often supported by volunteers from the 
local community and different partner agencies;  

 Continued to support the Identification Documents Scheme whereby those about to be released 
without formal documents e.g. birth certificates, passports, could have these replaced as lack of 
them could often create barriers to securing accommodation and/or employment.

 Referral of individuals involved in persistent (often low level ASB) offending to the MEAM project to 
develop tailored interventions to meet the specific needs of the individual and address the issues 
that might be influencing offending behaviour e.g. mental health issues, drug and/or alcohol 
dependency;

 Introduction of a restorative justice programme for young people (led by G-Safe and KCC 
Community Wardens);

 Targeted outreach youth work to engage with young people involved in repeat ASB to change their 
behaviour and divert them into constructive activity.

Page 62



45 | P a g e

10. Protecting People and Safeguarding

 10.1  Families and Social Care (Adults)

10.1.1 Kent County Council’s (KCC) Family and Social Care (FSC) Department is responsible for the 
protection and welfare of vulnerable adults (aged 18+) for the KCC Local Authority area. The Fiona 
Pilkington Inquest concluded that it is the responsibility of local Councils to manage low levels of 
ASB that could affect vulnerable people and therefore, it is helpful to be aware of the number and 
location of FSC clients with a Learning Disability in our areas.  It has been national social care policy 
to offer Learning Disability clients the choice to live as independently as possible and avoid being 
placed in a residential home.  However, trying to integrate clients into local communities can lead 
to increased vulnerability to ASB, bullying and intimidation.  

10.1.2 The number of LD Clients in Gravesham (162) is the third lowest in any District in the County 
however, a greater proportion of these clients are living in local communities than the average 
across Kent Districts.

Learning Disability Clients known to Adult Social Care
1 October 2015-30 September 2016

Area LD Service users LD Service user – 
in community

% proportion of 
Service users in 
community

Gravesham 162 157 96.9%
KCC 3,401 2,857 84.0%

10.1.3 If there are signs that a vulnerable adult could have been abused (e.g. physically, emotionally or 
financially) family, friends or anyone in a professional capacity, can report their concern and the 
individual will be given a vulnerable adult protection designation.  As indicated by the table below, 
the lowest percentage of AP Alerts have been raised in Gravesham. Whilst the total population of 
our Boroughs is one of the smallest of KCC Districts and therefore, we might expect the number of 
AP Alerts to also be less than for other more populated areas, the number of Alerts e.g. in Shepway, 
whose population is not significantly greater than our own is much higher than ours.  It is 
recommended that we should ensure that our inter-agency working practices and partners are all 
fully aware of the process for raising these Alerts.

Adult Protection Alerts - 1 October 2015-30 September 2016
Area No. of Adult 

Protection Alerts
% of Alerts in each 

District
Ashford 393 8.7%
Canterbury 493 10.9%
Dartford 277 6.1%
Dover 413 9.1%
Gravesham 200 4.4%
Maidstone 470 10.4%
Sevenoaks 234 5.2%
Shepway 475 10.5%
Swale 525 11.6%
Thanet 442 9.8%
Tonbridge and Malling 269 6.0%
Tunbridge Wells 327 7.3%
KCC 4,516 100.0%

Page 63



46 | P a g e

10.2 Young people aged 16-18 years by vulnerable grouping

10.2.1 Information below has been provided by Education and Young People’s Services (KCC) and relates 
to young people within the 16-18 year cohort in Gravesham.  Gravesham has a greater than 
average number of young people within the 16-18 year cohort who have specific vulnerabilities and 
numbers in many of the categories are increasing.  Gravesham has more than double the number 
of NEETs with at least one vulnerability grouping indicator than neighbouring Dartford and more 
than twice the number of children in care (87 compared to 32).  

16-18 year Cohort by Vulnerable Grouping

Gravesham
16-18 yr Cohort by Vulnerable Grouping Aug 2015 Aug 2016
Children in Care 40 87
Caring for own child 27 36
Asylum seeker 4 55
Carer (not for own child) 7 5
Substance misuse 3 4
Care leaver 6 21
Supervised by YOT 20 16
Pregnancy 27 12
Parent (not caring for own child) 1 0
SEND (16-18 year olds) 153 167
Total 16-18 cohort with at least one vulnerable 
grouping indicator 255 319
Total 16-18 yr old NEETs with at least one vulnerable 
grouping indicator 76 79

10.3 Missing Children

10.3.1 The following information has been extracted from Kent County Council’s (KCC) Specialist 
Children’s Services (SCS) Missing Children Quarterly Reports for 1 April-30 June and 1 July-30 
September 2016 as children who go missing are recognised as being at greater risk of being hurt or 
harmed, being drawn into criminal activity, experiencing problems with mental health issues and 
being subjected to exploitation.  On their return, children who have been missing should be 
interviewed by an Early Help Worker to try to identify the reasons and circumstances behind the 
missing episode, any risks to which they may have been exposed and what steps can be taken to 
support the child to avoid a further episode.

10.3.2 Data provided in the Quarterly Reports contain some District comparisons in respect of numbers of 
children reported missing 3 or more times and the number of missing episodes by the child’s 
location at the point that they went missing.  More specific details, for example, circumstances 
surrounding the missing episode and age and gender, are only available at County level, however, it 
is unlikely that these characteristics are likely to be very different in Gravesham to other Districts.

10.3.3 The Quarterly Reports also emphasise that numbers will not correlate with Kent Police recorded 
data as the latter will include children last seen in Kent but who may reside elsewhere whereas 
KCC’s Specialist Children’s Services record information on children who reside in Kent and Medway 
(i.e. not children who may be visiting Kent from another area).

  

Page 64



47 | P a g e

10.3.4 Status of Missing Children
Data indicates that there has been a 5% decrease in the total number of missing episodes 
Countywide in the second Quarter of 2016.  In each Quarter, the majority of children who went 
missing were not known to Specialist Children’s Services (41% in the first and 38% in the second).  A 
fairly equal proportion of children who go missing are CIN (16%), LAC (excluding UASC) (16%) and 
children who are the responsibility of another Local Authority (16%).

Qtr 1 Apr-Jun 2016 Qtr 2 Jul-Sept 2016Missing Children and Episodes - Kent
Case Status Children Episodes Children Episodes
Child in Need (CIN) 115 (16%) 222 118 (16%) 278
Child Protection (CP) 21 (3%) 58 27 (4%) 49
Looked After Child (exc. Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeker Children) (LAC) 113 (15%) 493 113 (16%) 456
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children 
(Looked After) (UASC) 66 (9%) 89 70 (10%) 103
Other Local Authority (OLA) 116 (16%) 413 112 (16%) 332
Not known to Specialist Children’s Services 
(NKSCS) 303 (41%) 343 267 (38%) 319
Total 734 (100%) 1,618 707 (100%) 1,537

10.3.5 Number of Missing Episodes 
The chart below indicates the number of missing episodes by the child’s location at point of going 
missing.  Gravesham has the third highest number of missing episodes and the number of children 
reported missing remained almost unchanged in Gravesham from 16 to 15. 

No. of missing episodes by child’s 
location at point of going missing

No. of children reported missing 3 
or more timesArea

Apr-Jun 16 Jul-Sept 16 Apr-Jun 16 Jul-Sept 16
Ashford 89 112 7 9
Canterbury 104 111 10 13
Dartford 59 61 2 5
Dover 155 179 16 26
Gravesham 154 169 16 15
Maidstone 89 75 6 7
Sevenoaks 93 77 4 6
Shepway 146 124 14 12
Swale 120 113 11 14
Thanet 355 266 38 25
Tonbridge and Malling 59 43 5 5
Tunbridge Wells 44 41 2 5
Medway 47 76 3 5
Other Local Authority 101 89 11 6
Unknown 3 1 0 0

10.3.4 Returner Interviews
Across Kent, returner interviews were not completed in approximately 25% of cases in Quarter 1 
2016 and in 17% in Quarter 2.  In respect of the 169 cases in Gravesham, 26 interviews were 
completed within 3 working days of return and 21 after the 3 working day period (approximately 
15% and 12% respectively).   Where a reason for a returner interview not taking place has been 
recorded, the most common reason provided is the lack of availability of the young person to take 
part in an interview.

10.3.5 Top 10 Missing by Frequency
Reports identify the Districts in which the most frequently missing children commonly reside.  4 
missing children in the second Quarter of 2016 were from Gravesham.

Page 65



48 | P a g e

Rank within 10 
Missing Age and Gender Status

No. of missing 
episodes

3rd 14 year old female
Other LA - Child in 

Need 18
6th 13 year old male Child in Need 14
9th 17 year old female Child in Care 12

9th 14 year old male
Other LA – Child in 

Care 12

10.3.6 Age and gender information indicate that the most common age for females going missing in the 
second Quarter was 15 years and 16 years for male missing children.  They most commonly go 
missing from foster care and the most often cited reason for going missing is seeking contact with 
family and/or friends and being unhappy in their foster setting or having had a disagreement with 
their foster carer.

10.4 Troubled Families
10.4.1 The majority of referrals to KCC’s Early Help Service meet sufficient of the criteria to be supported 

through the Troubled Families Programme.  Troubled Families data therefore provides a good 
indication of work being undertaken by Early Help Teams and the following details include 
information about the families who have been verified on the Programme since January 2015.  For 
the purpose of this Assessment, particular consideration is given to those families affected by 
domestic abuse at the initial identification stage.  The most prominent reason for families coming 
to notice due to domestic abuse is where children are known to domestic abuse support services or 
where the families have been discussed at Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC).  
This is a feature of 11% of the families being supported by the Programme in Gravesham through 
Families First. 

Families who met 
headline ‘families 
affected by domestic 
abuse at initial 
identification To

ta
l

As
hf

or
d

Ca
nt

er
bu

ry

Da
rt

fo
rd

Do
ve

r

G
ra

ve
sh

am

M
ai

ds
to

ne

Se
ve

no
ak

s

Sh
ep

w
ay

Sw
al

e

Th
an

et

To
nb

rid
ge

 
an

d 
M

al
lin

g

Tu
nb

rid
ge

 
W

el
ls

No. of families with at 
least 1 adult engaged 
with DA service

146
(2%)

14
(2%)

17
(2%)

13
(3%)

9
(1%)

11
(2%)

7
(1%)

14
(3%)

9
(1%)

18
(2%)

17
(2%)

12
(2%)

5
(1%)

No. of families with at 
least 1 child engaged 
with DA service

834
(10%)

90
(12%)

67
(9%)

60
(12%)

64
(9%)

73
(11%)

85
(11%)

44
(8%)

75
(11%)

85
(9%)

101
(10%)

51
(8%)

39
(8%)

No. of families with at 
least 1 individual 
having experienced DA 
incidents

427
(5%)

35
(5%)

37
(5%)

21
(4%)

41
(6%)

27
(4%)

41
(5%)

23
(4%)

30
(4%)

56
(6%)

61
(6%)

32
(5%)

23
(4%)

No. of families with at 
least 1 individual a DA 
perpetrator

118
(1%)

5
(1%)

6
(1%)

6
(1%)

5
(1%)

8
(1%)

10
(1%)

3
(1%)

6
(1%)

25
(3%)

25
(2%)

8
(1%)

11
(2%)

No. of families with at 
least 1 family member 
disclosing DA

433
(5%)

38
(5%)

33
(4%)

29
(6%)

33
(5%)

38
(6%)

47
(6%)

28
(5%)

42
(6%)

46
(5%)

53
(5%)

23
(3%)

23
(4%)

10.4.2 Families referred to Early Help Teams are checked against several databases to establish other 
concerns that may exist.  If 2 or more of the Troubled Families criteria are met, the family is verified 
on the Programme.  District targets were set on the number of families that areas should aim to 
engage on the Programme and the table below provides the targets, the cumulative number 
verified for the Programme between January 2015-5 October 2016 and all claims to date for 
payments by results.

Page 66



49 | P a g e

Area Target
Number verified

(Oct 2016)
Total claims to 
date (Oct 2016)

Ashford 696 765 58
Canterbury 1,026 770 64
Dartford 339 497 36
Dover 960 728 63
Gravesham 644 628 66
Maidstone 678 753 41
Sevenoaks 365 525 36
Shepway 807 680 57
Swale 1,323 982 85
Thanet 1,306 1,006 60
Tonbridge and Malling 628 658 43
Tunbridge Wells 408 516 31
KCC Districts 9,200 8,508 640

10.4.3 Once an Early Help Worker is assigned to a family, an assessment is conducted to establish the 
difficulties with which the family needs support to overcome.  The table below shows the number 
of families with an assessment who have overcome their problems and are now eligible for a 
payments by results claim to be made for a successful intervention.  Progress is measured against 
‘hard data outcomes’ e.g. reduction in offending behaviour, employment, as well as ‘soft data 
outcomes’ e.g. improvements in health.  The figures below indicate that most families are failing to 
achieve hard data outcomes but are having greater success with achieving soft data outcomes.

Families that progress is measured against and overall progression Gravesham (Oct 2016)
No. of families with a Family Assessment 242
% of families progressing on hard data outcomes 24%
% of families progressing on soft data outcomes 43%
% of families possible for claims 16%
 

10.5 Mental Health
10.5.1 Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust have provided data for the purposes of 

this Assessment to give some indication of the number of people who are being referred to Mental 
Health Services across the County.  It is commonly acknowledged by CSUs that there appears to 
have been an increasing number of cases coming to our attention, often involving individuals who 
may be inadvertently causing ASB due to an underlying mental health issue or who are at higher 
risk of being targeted as victims due to their condition.  These cases are often very complex and 
difficult to resolve and rely very heavily on all partner agencies with a remit to work together to 
support the individual, their families and local communities.

10.5.2 In most cases, when people are treated in hospital or another mental health facility, they will have 
agreed or volunteered to be there.  However, there are cases when a person can be detained (also 
known as sectioned) under the Mental Health Act 1983 and treated without their agreement.  
Information is presented below on the number of cases in which Police have exercised powers 
under s.136 of the Act.  This means that an individual has been found in a public place who appears 
to have a mental disorder and who is deemed to be in need of immediate care or control.  Police 
will then take the person to a place of safety (usually a hospital) and detain the person there order 
that they can be assessed by an approved mental health professional and a doctor.  They will be 
kept there until the assessment is completed or for a maximum of 72 hours.

10.5.3 Figures for 2016-17 are presented for the period 1 April-09 November only. The indication is that 
by the year end, the number of referrals being made via s.136 powers is likely is likely to see a small 
increase in Gravesham.  No further details have been provided with these figures therefore, closer 

Page 67



50 | P a g e

analysis of circumstances, locations etc. would be helpful as well as perhaps the outcomes of the 
individuals following their having been sectioned.  Per 1,000 population, rates of referrals locally 
are just below the average. 

s.136 MHA Referrals
Area 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Per 1,000 
pop 2015-

16

1 Apr-9 
Nov 2016

Ashford 48 47 38 29 0.2 29
Canterbury 77 75 56 65 0.4 33
Dartford 36 32 34 42 0.4 29
Dover 43 44 26 36 0.3 32
Gravesham 49 51 47 48 0.4 40
Maidstone 45 38 52 66 0.4 43
Medway 121 133 109 128 0.5 77
No Fixed Abode 0 2 0 5 n/a 0
Sevenoaks 17 15 16 25 0.2 17
Shepway 64 51 44 42 0.4 24
Swale 72 63 43 53 0.4 47
Thanet 120 128 81 93 0.7 66
Tonbridge and Malling 28 21 24 29 0.2 24
Tunbridge Wells 29 19 15 24 0.2 16
Unknown Postcode/
Out of Area 79 78 82 99 0.2 81
Total 828 797 667 784 0.45 557

10.5.4 Young people may be referred by various professionals or family members or self-refer to Mental 
Health Services.  Generally services for younger people will be providing support and services to 
individuals aged up to 18 years.  Details provided are limited to the number of referrals made.

Young Adult Referrals
Area 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Per 1,000 
pop aged 

0-19*  
2015-16

1 Apr-9 
Nov 2016

Ashford 1,023 1,046 1,007 1,142 36.1 672
Canterbury 1,085 1,622 1,709 1,777 49.2 1,011
Dartford 852 864 817 855 32.3 536
Dover 1,037 1,049 1,096 1,158 45.9 735
Gravesham 952 1,002 852 882 32.4 559
Maidstone 1,275 1,360 1,408 1,358 34.7 799
Medway 2,381 2,383 2,278 2,661 37.8 1,577
No Fixed Abode 2 11 2 4 n/a 5
Sevenoaks 788 853 736 802 28.0 491
Shepway 1,158 1,048 1,037 1,044 43.9 657
Swale 1,211 1,245 1,353 1,435 40.5 959
Thanet 1,684 1,549 1,389 1,528 46.1 991
Tonbridge and Malling 818 873 866 856 26.8 511
Tunbridge Wells 768 774 762 807 27.7 492
Unknown Postcode/
Out of Area 321 340 381 468 n/a 315
Total 16,075 16,019 15,693 16,777 37.0 10,310
*YA Referrals are up to 18 years but Mid-2015 population estimates for Kent Districts and Medway have had 
to be used for 0-19 years due to the age bands used in the published Estimates.

Based on the number of referrals recorded in Gravesham in 2015-16 and the number made by very 
early November in the current financial year, the anticipation is that there will be an increase by 
the year end.  In terms of referrals per 1,000 population (given the caveat that Estimates for 0-19 

Page 68



51 | P a g e

years of age have had to be used), Gravesham does have a lower than average rate of referrals 
than most Districts and Medway.

 
10.5.5 As demonstrated in the table below, the rate of Older Referrals (people aged 55 years and older) in 

Gravesham is just below the Kent average.

Older Adult Referrals
Area 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Per 1,000 
pop aged 

55+

1 Apr-9 
Nov 2016

Ashford 552 587 581 576 15.3 368
Canterbury 988 1,024 1,096 963 19.4 653
Dartford 383 353 426 420 16.2 284
Dover 677 646 743 705 17.1 463
Gravesham 337 345 449 443 15.0 267
Maidstone 670 730 746 701 14.0 478
Medway 1,076 969 1,015 1,006 13.8 704
Sevenoaks 516 542 581 618 15.7 425
Shepway 582 569 638 707 17.6 460
Swale 779 714 667 635 14.5 426
Thanet 795 790 917 821 16.6 565
Tonbridge and Malling 444 481 516 553 11.2 373
Tunbridge Wells 500 664 595 620 17.8 399
Unknown Postcode/
Out of Area 67 75 262 280 n/a 157
Total 8,366 8,489 9,232 9,048 15.9 6,022

10.6 Hate Crime
10.6.1 In 26 July 2016, the Home Office published the Government’s new Action Plan for tackling hate 

crime following an increase in reports of hate incidents in the days after the EU Referendum.  The 
Plan applies to England and Wales and sets out a range of actions to be delivered between now and 
2020.  Specific changes include:

 The publication, for the first time, on the extent of hate crime as recorded in the Crime 
Survey for England and Wales;

 An improvement in police recording of hate crime and the publishing of data as part of 
Official Statistics;

 The funding of a number of projects with the voluntary sector working with victims;

 Amended legislation to provide for enhanced sentencing in a wider range of crimes 
including, for the first time, a victim’s transgender identity as an aggravating factor.

10.6.2 During 2016, Kent Police recorded incidents of hate crime have been available to local CSUs as part 
of monthly published data on the Community Safety Portal.  In Gravesham, action to address hate 
crime has been selected as a particular area of interest by the Council’s Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee.  Therefore, hate crime data is included for the first time in our Strategic Assessment.  
The level of information currently available is limited to the number of crimes recorded by Police i.e. 
no details have been provided on the type of crime committed, the motivation (e.g. whether 
racially motivated or hate crime that has targeted a person because of their disability) or any kind 
of profiling of the victims or perpetrators.  The figures provided are a useful start but greater detail 
will be needed to enable CSUs to respond constructively and target resources effectively to 
encourage further reporting, assist victims appropriately and to change perpetrators and potential 
perpetrators behaviour in future.

Page 69



52 | P a g e

10.6.3 What is hate crime?
Hate crime means any crimes that are directed at a person because of that person’s:

 disability;
 race or ethnicity;
 religion or belief;
 sexual orientation; or,
 transgender identity.

It can be committed against a person or their property and takes many forms: it could include 
verbal abuse, physical assault, harassment or damage to property. It is also important to note that 
hate crimes must be recorded based on the perception of the victim or the reporting person.

10.6.4 Despite a decrease in hate crime reported via the national Crime Survey between 2012-13 to 2014-
15, the significant difference between police figures and those recorded in the Survey are indicative 
of considerable under-reporting (less than a quarter of incidents appear to be being reported to 
police nationally and there is no reason to believe that Kent’s position would be any different). 

10.6.5 On average, approximately 1.0%-1.5% of all recorded crime in Kent is hate crime.  However, whilst 
numbers are very low and incidents rare, the pernicious nature of hate crime, acknowledged 
under-reporting, impact on its victims and threat that it presents to community cohesion in our 
particularly diverse populations, means our CSP and local CSUs should incorporate activity to 
address hate crime into their work programmes.

10.6.6 The actual number of recorded hate crimes is small and therefore, percentage changes between 
the two full years presented should not be used in isolation.  Nonetheless, it is clear that there is an 
upward trend in recorded hate crime across virtually all areas.  Hate crime that is racially motivated 
is likely to account for the majority of these offences and therefore, it is perhaps not surprising that 
areas that have a more ethnically diverse population have recorded a greater number of offences.

Kent Police recorded hate crime
Area Apr 14-Mar 

15
Apr 15-Mar 

16
% +/- 14-15
and 15-16

Apr-Sept 16

Ashford 39 40 2.6% 45
Canterbury 74 83 12.2% 81
Dartford 86 103 19.8% 73
Dover 71 61 -14.1% 43
Gravesham 97 127 30.9% 88
Maidstone 88 103 17.0% 90
Medway 200 233 16.5% 184
Sevenoaks 42 45 7.1% 31
Shepway 64 71 10.9% 65
Swale 57 79 38.6% 71
Thanet 82 132 61.0% 112
Tonbridge and Malling 36 44 22.2% 28
Tunbridge Wells 35 74 111.4% 48
Kent 971 1,195 23.1% 959

 
10.6.7 What is clearly evident is the increase in recorded hate crime that has been seen in the first 6 

months of 2016-17.  During only the first half of the year, many areas have recorded numbers of 
offences that are approaching the total recorded in 12 months in both the previous years.  If the 

Page 70



53 | P a g e

level of offences remains similar between October 2016-March 2017, Gravesham will be seeing an 
increase of approximately 38% by the year end.  There was a peak of recorded offences in August 
2016 and it is acknowledged that widespread reporting in the national media following the EU 
Referendum may have led to a small increase in hate crime in the months immediately following.

Key work carried out to address protecting people and safeguarding
 Providing funding for work with Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children (UASC) to safeguard them 

against being drawn into ASB/crime or being targeted due to their vulnerability;
  Use of the MEAM referral process for individuals identified as vulnerable in order that tailored 

support can be provided;
 Development of a Hate Crime Campaign to raise awareness and encourage reporting and wider 

promotion in support of Hate Crime Week;
 Specific practical support provided to repeat victims of hate crime including rehousing and 

provision of additional home security measures e.g. door cameras;
 Delivering training to taxi drivers to promote awareness of CSE;
 Development of Safeguarding policies and practices across partner agencies and identification of 

Safeguarding Champions amongst Council staff (Gravesham);
 Ensuring that safeguarding information is visible on Council websites to encourage members of the 

public with concerns to report and seek advice.

Page 71



54 | P a g e

11.  Horizon Scanning

The delivery of the current Community Safety Strategy and the development of future work recommended 
in this Assessment will, to some extent, be affected by a range of external factors that are outside the 
control of partner agencies that may impact the delivery of Partnership activity in the short or medium 
term.  The following Pestello Analysis has been used to identify potential risks and factors at a County level 
that may have a bearing on our work in 2017-18.

Political

 New PCC – an interim Policy is in place until 
March 2017 and consultation on a new four year 
plan from April 2017 ends in December.

 KCC elections 2017 - Whole Council elections take 
place on 4 May 2017 for a four-year term of 
office. 

 Local council elections – Tunbridge Wells, 
Maidstone and Medway take place May 2017.

 Possible partnership updates needed for new 
representatives. 

 Boundary changes to the electoral divisions will 
take effect at this election after a review of the 
county by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England.

 Devolution - ongoing discussions regarding joint 
work across sub-county partnerships in Kent 
around enhanced two-tier working and 
devolution.

 New elected mayors for cities and towns in 
southern England as part of the governments 
devolution agenda as per The Cities and Local 
Government Devolution Act, which became law 
in early 2016.

 Potential changes to party leaders in central 
Government.

 Possible expansion of PCC remit to include Fire & 
Rescue and Ambulance Service subject to 
legislation following the transfer of policy 
responsibility from DCLG to the Home Office. 

 EU reforms and Referendum – PM to trigger 
article 50 by March 2017 for Brexit subject to 
high court appeal and agreed timescales.

Economic
Existing Issues:
 Ongoing public sector budget cuts.
 Use of foodbanks remains at an all-time high.
 Reduced spending on home safety features.
 Future CS funding issues from 2018/19 

(indications from OPCC are for continued funding 
subject to no further budget cuts).

 Domestic Abuse Commissioning – funding for 
new contract still being secured.

 Brexit – impact on UK economy and potentially 
localised issues regarding relocation of the Jungle 
camp and contribution to Anglo-French security 
measures such as the wall.

Government Funding Opportunities:
 £115m to tackle rough sleeping and 

homelessness, funding 2,000 places.
 Hate Crime Security Funding.
 Modern Slavery Funding.
 Domestic Violence Funding.
 Awaiting confirmation of MOJ funding for 

community safety.

Autumn Statement 2016
 Public spending this year to be 40% of GDP - 

down from 45% in 2010.
 Departmental spending plans set out in 2015 

Spending Review to remain in place.
 Government will meet commitments to protect 

budgets for key public services, defence, 
overseas aid and the pension "triple lock" until 
the end of this Parliament.

 Government no longer seeking a budget surplus 
in 2019-20 - committed to returning public 
finances to balance "as soon as practicable".

 National Living Wage to rise from £7.20 an hour 
to £7.50 from April next year.

 £2.3bn housing infrastructure fund to help 
provide 100,000 new homes in high-demand 
areas.

 £1.4bn to deliver 40,000 extra affordable homes
 £1.1bn extra investment in English local 

transport networks.

Page 72



55 | P a g e

Social / Demographic

 Terrorist threat level for the UK is Severe.
 Terrorist attacks across Europe are ongoing - 

Security funding is available from the 
government.

 Hate Crime.
 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) / Human 

Trafficking / Modern Slavery.
 Immigration / Syrian Refugee Crisis / Organised 

Immigration Crime & increases in 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children.

 Foreign National Offenders.
 Gangs / Youth Violence / Organised Crime 

Groups / Serious Organised Crime.

 Vulnerable Looked After Children (LACs) and 
Missing Children.

 Domestic Abuse inc. Female Genital Mutilation 
(FGM) / Honour based violence.

 New Psychoactive Substances.
 Mental Health issues including: Suicide, ageing 

population (Dementia), Schizophrenia, Self-
Neglect.

 Increased care in the home – carers / support.
 Homelessness / sofa surfing. 
 Public sector strikes / industrial action.
 Emerging communities.
 Social Isolation.

Technological

 Cyber Crime including:
eSafety; Child Sexual Exploitation;
Grooming; Pornographic material; 
Sexting; Fraud; Scams; Trolls; Bullying;
Hacking Personal Information; Spam; 
Surveillance; Identity Theft; Gambling; Illegal 
downloading; Plagiarism; Violent content; 
Extremism; Unhealthy Body Image/Self Esteem 
(Self harm, eating disorders); Relationships 
(sexualised bullying); Privacy; Stalking/ 
Harassment.

 Domestic Abuse harassment. 
 Malicious Social Media Bill.
 Privacy Protection Bill.
 Online Safety Bill.

 Surveillance / CCTV including drone stalking.
 Consultation on National Surveillance Camera 

Strategy for England and Wales (closing date 6th 
Dec 2016) regarding best practice and 
compliance.

 Social contact / education / support.
 Fast Broadband across the UK by 2020
 Increase in e-safety education including for 

parents.

Environmental

 New homes requirement across the county and 
associated infrastructure and utilities, plus 
demand on public sector services.

 Specific known new developments:
 Ebbsfleet garden town as part of the healthy 

new towns programme;
 North Kent (Paramount Studios development) – 

pressure on infrastructure & impact on 
environment;

 New Dartford Crossing;
 Folkestone development plans for 20,000 new 

homes;
 Ashford (Chilmington Green) development plans 

for 20,000 new homes;

 Fracking – 3 test boreholes in Dover district.
 Borders / Channel, implications for post Brexit –

new measures or restrictions to be put in place?
 New Airport development still ongoing.
 Development at Manston Airport part of KCC 

transport plan consultation.
 Operation Stack/Lorry Park.
 Extreme weather events (i.e. flooding).
 Impact on road users of large scale and long 

term roadworks.

Page 73



56 | P a g e

Legislation

 Psychoactive Substances Act 2016.
 Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 (benefit 

freeze, capping benefits, troubled families).
 The Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 

2016.
 Policing & Crime Bill introduced to the House of 

Commons Feb ‘16 (collaboration between 
emergency services, mental health, CSE).

 British victims of terrorism (asset freezing and 
compensation) Bill 2016-2017.

 Homelessness reduction Bill 2016-17 (housing 
partners).

 Modern Slavery (Transparency in Supply Chains) 
Bill [HL] 2016-17 - requires a statement in annual 
reports or accounts.

 Preventing and Combating Violence Against 
Women and Domestic Violence (Ratification of 
Convention) Bill 2016-17.

 Stalking (Sentencing) Bill 2016-17 to increase 
sentences for stalking offences.

 Online Safety Bill 2016-17 for service providers.

 Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 
(Amendment) Bill 2016-17.  An amendment is 
going through parliament to repeal requirement 
for teachers carers etc. reporting in Primary/ 
nursery settings.

 Modern Slavery Act inc. child exploitation 
offences was enacted in 2015.

 Offender Rehabilitation Act 2014.
 Immigration Act 2016 came into effect in May 

2016.
 Age of criminal responsibility Bill (increase from 

10 to 12 years of age).
 Gangmasters (Licensing) and Labour Abuse 

Authority Bill 2016-17 – care services.
 Malicious Communications (Social Media) Bill. 

2016-17 for communications containing threats
 Cohesive and Controlling Domestic Abuse is now 

recognised as a crime.
 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 received Royal 

Assent 29th Nov 2016.

Organisational

 Authorities moving to commissioning 
models including KCC.

 Governance changes to commissioned services, 
i.e. Witness Services.

 Merging structures.
 Devolution of local government.
 Streamlining of activities.
 Use of volunteers is increasing: Police Cadet 

Scheme, Volunteer Support Wardens, Citizens in 
Policing Strategy, KFRS and Domestic Abuse.

 Multiagency hubs: Kent Police change 
programme (vulnerability hub)/Margate Task 
Force/Kent Community Safety Team. 

 Police and Crime Commissioner possible 
oversight of Fire & Rescue Service and enhanced 
working with ambulance services.

 Expansion to Integrated Offender Management 
criteria.

 Sexual Violence support to be enhanced from 
April 2017. 

 Regulatory inspections and potential impacts i.e. 
SECAMB (special measures). 

 National Audit inspections i.e. JTAI (Joint 
Targeted Area Inspection) regarding children 
living with Domestic Abuse – being undertaken 
up to March 2017. 

  

Page 74



57 | P a g e

12.  Partnership Contacts

Dartford Borough Council
Community Safety Unit

Gravesham Borough Council
Community Safety Unit

Civic Centre
Home Gardens

Dartford
Kent DA1 1DR

Tel. 01322 343000
www.safedartford.gov.uk

1st Floor, Civic Centre
Windmill Street

Gravesend
Kent DA12 1AU

Tel. 01474 337328/7000
www.gravesham.gov.uk

Kent Police
Kent County Council

Community Safety Unit
Thames Way

Northfleet
Gravesend

Kent DA11 8BD

Tel. 01474 369055
www.kent.police.uk

1st Floor, Invicta House
Maidstone

Kent ME14 1XX

Tel. 08458 247247
www.kent.gov.uk

Kent Fire and Rescue Service
Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation 

Company
The Godlands
Straw Mill Hill

Maidstone
Kent ME15 6XB

Tel. 01622 692121
www.kent.fire-uk.org

Joynes House
New Road
Gravesend

Kent DA11 0AT

Tel. 03000 473000
www.ksscrc.org.uk

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group Kent Police and Crime Commissioner
2nd Floor, Civic Centre

Windmill Street
Gravesend

Kent DA12 1AU

Tel. 03000 424903
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk

Office of the Kent PCC
Kent Police Headquarters

Sutton Road
Maidstone

Kent ME15 9BZ

Tel. 0622 677055
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk

Page 75

http://www.safedartford.gov.uk/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.police.uk/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.fire-uk.org/
http://www.ksscrc.org.uk/
http://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.kent-pcc.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77 Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Minutes 15.11.2016
	7 Gravesham Safety Strategic Assessment 2016
	Gravesham Community Safety Strategic Assessment 2016

	10 Gravesham Safety Strategic Assessment 2016 - Exempt Information

